
 

 
 
 
 
Summons to Meeting 
 
Monday 18 October 2021 
 

Development Panel 
 

Tuesday 26 October 2021, 1.00 pm 
 

Council Chamber, Allerdale House, Workington 
 

Membership: 
  
Councillor Tony Annison (Chair) Councillor Janet Farebrother (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Carole Armstrong Councillor Nicky Cockburn 
Councillor Allan Daniels Councillor Daniel Horsley 
Councillor George Kemp Councillor Elaine Lynch 
Councillor Antony McGuckin Councillor Ron Munby MBE 
Councillor Andrew Semple Councillor Alan Tyson 
 

 
 If you have any questions or queries contact Kathryn Magnay on 

kathryn.magnay@allerdale.gov.uk. 

 

Agenda 
 
Site Visit   
 

The following site visits will take place: 
 
FUL/2021/0207 
 
HOU/2021/0202 
 
Members of the Development Panel will be picked up from Allerdale House, 
Workington. The Bus will leave at 11.10am. 
 
 

1. Minutes  (Pages 3 - 46) 
 

 To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 3 August 2021, 
31 August 2021 and 14 September 2021. 

  



2. Apologies for Absence   
 

3. Declaration of Interests   
 

 Councillors/Staff to give notice of any disclosable pecuniary interest, other 
registrable interest or any other interest and the nature of that interest relating to 
any item on the agenda in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct. 

  

4. Questions   
 

 To answer questions from Councillors and members of the public – submitted in 
writing or by electronic mail no later than 5.00pm on a working day, allowing two 
clear working days before the day of the meeting. 

  

5. OUT/2021/0017 - Newton Arlosh - Dwelling  (Pages 47 - 58) 
 

6. FUL/2021/0207 - Land Opposite The Willows, Flimby - Retrospective 
consent for the retention of existing agricultural building for the housing of 
livestock and horses  (Pages 59 - 72) 

 

7. FUL/2020/0122 - Overgate - Access  (Pages 73 - 84) 
 

8. HOU/2021/0202 - Park End Road - Windows  (Pages 85 - 98) 
 

9. FUL/2021/0197 - Maryport Town Hall - Replacement of existing doorway at 
North elevation with in fill panel, construction of new doorway in original 
position to form new main access  (Pages 99 - 106) 

 

 
 

 
 
Chief Executive 
 

 
Date of Next Meeting: 

 
Tuesday 23 November 2021, 1.00 pm 

 
 
 



At a meeting of the Development Panel held in Wigton Market Hall, CA7 9AA on 
Tuesday 3 August 2021 at 11.00 am 
 
Members 
 
Councillor Tony Annison (Chair) Councillor Janet Farebrother (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Carole Armstrong Councillor Nicky Cockburn 
Councillor Allan Daniels Councillor Adrian Kirkbride 
Councillor Elaine Lynch Councillor Antony McGuckin 
Councillor Ron Munby MBE Councillor Paul Scott 
Councillor Andrew Semple Councillor Alan Smith 
 
Apologies for absence were received from  Councillor Daniel Horsley, Councillor 
George Kemp and Councillor Alan Tyson 
 
Staff Present 
 
J Irving, L Jardine, S Long, L Tomlinson and S Tranter 
 
 
130. Minutes  

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 01 June 2021 were signed as a correct 
record. 
 

131. Declaration of Interests  
 
None declared 
 

132. Questions  
 
None received 
 

133. Development Panel - VAR/2020/0503 - Siddick Windfarm, Workington - 
Variation to approved application 2/1995/0342, condition 6 to increase the 
period to "not exceeding 35 years"  
 
Representations 
 
Stephen Riddick spoke against the application 
 
Application 
 
The report recommended approval subject to,  
 
i. Natural England’s acceptance of the submitted Appropriate Assessment 
screening report. 
 
ii. The securing of a s106 legal agreement to: 

a) Provide a £15k contribution to nature conservation projects in the 
locality of the site, to be paid before the end of January 2022 

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



b) The undertaking of a Greater Crested Newt survey in the year prior to 
the decommissioning works 

 
The Senior Planning Officer then went through the main issues as detailed in 
the report. 
 
Principle of Development 
 
The application site is located within the Designated Area suitable for Wind 
Energy development under Policy SA50 of the Allerdale local Plan (Part 2). The 
Council under Policy S19 of ALP1 seeks to promote the development of 
renewable and low carbon energy resources provided the impacts (either in 
isolation or cumulatively) are, or can be made acceptable. The proposal relates 
to the continued retention of the existing windfarm’s 7 turbines, for an additional 
10-year timescale. The principle of the development has been previously 
accepted 
 
Landscape and Visual 
 
The existing turbines are located in an area already reflecting a windfarm/ 
industrial landscape on a section of the coastline which incorporates a wide 
range of large scale, man-made infrastructure. Additional turbines have since 
been allowed on appeal in the immediate locality, with the Inspectors 
concluding that their respective proposals (given the existing surrounding 
environment) would not have a significant harmful impact on the landscape of 
the site and its surroundings Officers are of the opinion that the continued 
retention of the turbines would not have a significant individual or cumulative 
impact on landscape character. 
 
Visual Impact and Amenity 
 
The extent of visual effects is greatest and most significant in short term views 
of the site, which then diminish with distance. However cumulatively, especially 
when viewed alongside the neighbouring Oldside windfarm, there are also 
some significant impacts for receptors at greater distances, albeit within an 
established urban setting. The impact on amenity is also a material planning 
consideration under the ministerial guidance 
 
Noise 
 
A noise assessment has been undertaken of the proposal to evaluate the noise 
impact both individually and cumulatively with the other nearby turbines in the 
locality of the site. The Environmental Health officers have assessed this 
evidence and considers it to be acceptable in compliance with ESTU-R-97 
guidance (endorsed by condition). 
 
Highways 
 
As an existing development, there is little operational traffic generation. Subject 
to planning conditions relating to decommissioning operations, the proposed 
development would not have an adverse impact on the highway network. No 
objections are received from the highway authority. 

Page 4



 
Nature Conservation 
 
Policy S35 seeks to protect and enhance biodiversity. Any impact on nature 
conservation has already largely occurred through the original implementation 
of the turbines. The site is located in an ecologically sensitive area. As a 
retrospective form of development it is recommended that compensatory 
mitigation measures be alternatively channelled through a s106 commuted sum 
contribution. This will be spent on a wider strategy to improve the ecological 
value and habitat of species in the locality of the windfarm (as agreed with 
Workington Nature Partnership). Given the surrounding land is not in the 
applicants control the s106 also requires a Greater Crested Newt survey before 
the decommissioning works. Bird strike survey evidence has been submitted 
and it is acknowledged there may be some disturbance at the decommissioning 
stage.  
 
Drainage  
 
Flood risk and /or contamination of water are not anticipated to increase as a 
result of the development although mitigation measures would be required by 
planning condition to avoid pollution during decommissioning works. 
 
Potential Benefits 
 
The proposal will make a continued positive contribution to renewable energy 
supply and its respective targets. 
 
Officers also advised the potential impact of ‘shadow flicker’ and the mitigation 
procedures that will be put in place to address any potential concerns.  
 
The Environmental Protection Manager also provided clarity to members in 
response to representations to noise and nuisance. 
 
Members were also shown images and plans of the site, including views of the 
Wind Turbines both from neighbouring dwellings and from various viewpoints 
around the local area. 
 
The Senior Planning Officer then went through the late list and the amendments 
to the National Planning Policy Framework 2021, Chapter 14. 
 
‘158. When determining planning applications for renewable and low carbon 
development, local planning authorities should: 
 

a) not require applicants to demonstrate the overall need for renewable or 
low carbon energy, and recognise that even small-scale projects provide 
a valuable contribution to cutting greenhouse gas emissions; and 

b) approve the application if its impacts are (or can be made) acceptable. 
Once suitable areas for renewable and low carbon energy have been 
identified in plans, local planning authorities should expect subsequent 
applications for commercial scale projects outside these areas to 
demonstrate that the proposed location meets the criteria used in 
identifying suitable areas.”  

Page 5



 
Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report.  
 
Members asked questions of the speaker in relation to shadow flicker including 
potential/historical mitigation. 
 
Members then asked questions of the officers in relation to wind direction, 
nature conservation, rotational movement of the turbine blades, and proposed 
conditions. 
 
Further questions were asked in relation to health and safety and the 
maintenance of the turbines. In response the Senior Planning Officer advised 
that the wind turbines can operate safely for another ten years and are content 
with the assurances provided by the applicant. 
 
Concerns were raised over parish/town council representations and whether 
Workington Town Council should have been approached for comment. 
 
Clarity was also provided on the application, which is a variation rather than a 
new application. 
 
Debate then ensued over-shadow flicker, health and safety concerns and 
potential yearly inspections of the turbines. 
 
Councillor Cockburn moved the motion to refuse the application, citing concerns 
over health and safety, shadow flicker and the efficiency of the turbines. 
 
The motion was not seconded and was lost. 
 
Councillor Annison then moved the motion to approve as per officers 
recommendations with an additional condition to introduce regular structural 
inspections of the turbines which are to be undertaken no more than 12 months 
apart. 
 
The motion was seconded by Councillor Lynch. 
 
A vote was taken on the motion to approve, 8 voted in favour, 2 against and 0 
abstentions. 
 
Resolution 
 
Permission granted subject to conditions, with an additional condition to 
introduce regular structural inspections of the turbines which are to be 
undertaken no more than 12 months apart. 
 
Conditions 
 
In Accordance: 
 

1. The development shall be implemented solely in accordance with 
the following plans:  

Page 6



Approved plans 2/1995 /0342 
A108662 Siddick windfarm Ecological appraisal  
Siddick Windfarm HRA 
Siddick Wind Farm Shadow Flicker report  ISSUE3 
A108660 Oldside and Siddick windfarm Noise 10 Dec 

 
Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 

 
2. All of the existing materials on the service/access tracks within the 

site shall, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the local planning 
authority, be retained for the lifetime of the development. 
 
Reason: To ensure that possible dereliction an unsightliness of the site is 
avoided. 

 
3. If at any time any turbine shall cease being operational for a 

continuous period of six months it, and any ancillary equipment 
shall be removed from the site and the land reinstated unless 
further planning permission for its replacement has been granted in 
the meantime.  
 
Reason: To ensure that possible dereliction an unsightliness of the site is 
avoided.  
 

4. The turbines herby approved shall all rotate in the same direction. 
 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt 
 

5. The number of wind turbines shall not exceed seven.  
 
Reason: To limit the development to that applied for 

 
6. This s73 approval is for an extended operational period of 10 years 

up to the end of December 2031, upon which the operational use of 
the turbines shall cease. Prior to decommissioning of the turbines, 
details of a decommissioning plan including: 

a. The removal of all development above or below ground level 
or 

b. Details of the replacement grass cover to reinstate the land to 
a satisfactory condition to the former grass cover, 

c. Removal or deposition of spoil within 12 months of the 
cessation of the operational use of the turbines shall be 
submitted to and approve, by the local planning authority. 
The works shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details 
 

Reason: To ensure that possible dereliction an unsightliness of the site is 
avoided 
 

7. Prior to the commencement of any decommissioning works details 
of wheel washing facilities shall be submitted to and approved by 

Page 7



the local planning authority. The approved details shall be installed 
prior to the commencement of the de-commissioning works and 
shall be retained and made available at all times during the course 
of these works.  
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety 

  
8. Prior to the decommissioning works a Decommissioning 

Environmental Management Plan (DEMP) has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
statement shall include the following:  

a. Traffic Management Plan to include all traffic associated with 
the development, including site and staff traffic, off-site 
parking, turning and compound areas;  

b. Procedure to monitor and mitigate pollution, noise and 
vibration from the decommissioning works and to monitor 
any residential properties or wildlife habitats at risk 
(including type of generators, fuel storage facilities, spillage 
procedures and oil types use in plant working on the site), as 
well as taking into account noise from vehicles, deliveries. All 
noise measurements should make reference to BS7445. 

c. Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential 
properties from decommissioning compounds including 
visual impact, noise, and light pollution.  

d. Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during 
construction and demolition (including any wheel washing 
facilities);  

e. Programme of work for Demolition and Construction phase;  
f. Hours of working and deliveries;  
g. Details of lighting to be used on site;  
h. Highway signage/ Haulage routes. 

 
The approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the 
duration of the development. 
 
Reason: In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of the occupiers of 
neighbouring properties and the habitats and designated local wildlife 
species of the Solway Firth pSPA during the decommissioning works, in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S32 
and S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014 and in 
the interests of highway safety. 
 

9. Prior to any decommissioning works a Biodiversity Management 
Plan (including an Environmental Construction Management plan) 
shall be submitted to and approved by the local planning authority. 
The plan shall include details on measures and details to be 
implemented during and after the course of construction works at 
the site to safeguard the habit of protected species at the site. The 
works shall be implemented solely in accordance with the approved 
details and thereafter managed at all times in accordance with the 
approved scheme.  
 

Page 8



Reason : In the interests of safeguarding local wildlife and biodiversity in 
compliance with Policy S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014. 
 

10. Within 2 months of the date of this consent, a written scheme shall 
be submitted to by the local planning authority setting out a shadow 
flicker protocol for the assessment of Shadow Flicker (including the 
implementation of the mitigation measures recommended in para 
4.3.4. of the WYG Shadow Flicker report (issue 3) dated 27/05/21. 
The approved mitigation details shall be implemented within 2 
months of their approval. The protocol shall also outline the 
process in the event of any future complaint from the owner or 
occupier of a dwelling which lawfully exists or had planning 
permission at the date of the complaint. The written scheme shall 
include remedial measures. The operation of the turbines shall take 
place in accordance with the approved protocol unless the local 
planning authority gives its prior written consent to any variations.  
 
Reason. To ensure a satisfactory standard of residential amenity to 
nearby properties in compliance with Policy S32 of the Allerdale local 
plan part 1. 
 

11. Noise from the wind turbines hereby consented shall not exceed 
the following LA90,10min noise levels specified within Table 1 and 2 
below at downwind free-field locations representing receptors as 
shown in Figure 1 and Table 3 as detailed within the TetraTech 
noise assessment December 2020. Background noise and turbine 
noise measurements to be carried out in line with the Institute of 
Acoustics Good Practice Guide to the application of ETSU-R-97 for 
the assessment and rating of wind turbine noise taking account of 
all guidance notes for noise conditions. 

 
Table 1 Noise Level Criteria at R1, R2, R3, R4, R5, R6 & R9 
 

 
Table 2 Noise Level Criteria at R7 and R8 
 

 
 

Page 9



Table 3 Noise Sensitive Receptors 
 

 
 
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of residential amenity to 
nearby properties in compliance with Policy S32 of the Allerdale local 
plan part 1. 
 

12. Within 21 days of this consent and any future written request by the 
Local Planning Authority, following a complaint to it from a resident 
alleging noise disturbance at the dwelling at which they reside and 
where Excess Amplitude Modulation is considered by the Local 
Planning Authority to be present in the noise emissions at the 
complainant’s property, the wind farm operator shall submit a 
scheme, for the approval of the local planning authority, providing 
for the further investigation and, as necessary, control of Excess 
AM. Relevant background noise levels to inform the limits should 
be agreed with the Local Planning Authority prior to any 
compliance measurements. The scheme shall be based on best 
available techniques and shall be implemented as approved by the 
Local Planning Authority within 1 month post completion of 
measurements.  
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of residential amenity to 
nearby properties in compliance with policy S32 of the Allerdale local 
plan part 1. 
 

13. An annual report reviewing the structural condition of the turbines 
shall be prepared by the developer and submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority prior to the 31st October 2028 for each year for 
the remaining lifetime of the temporary consent. Any identified 
mitigation /repair works shall thereafter be implemented and 
maintained in accordance with the approved scheme. 
 
Reason: To ensure the long-term structural stability of the turbines 
hereby approved.   

 
 

 Councillor Farebrother joined the meeting   
  

Page 10



134. Development Panel - VAR/2020/0504 - Oldside Windfarm, Workington - 
Variation to approved application 2/1995/0916, condition 6 to increase the 
operational life of 9 wind turbines from 25 years to 35 years  
 
Application 
 
The report recommended to approval subject to:  
 
Natural England’s acceptance of the submitted HRA Appropriate Assessment 
screening report  
 
Securing a s106 legal agreement to provide:  
 

(i) a £14,080 contribution to nature conservation projects in the locality of 
the site, this is to be paid before the end of January 2022. 

(ii) undertake the identified additional amphibian, reptile, bat, badger, otter 
and invertebrate ecology surveys within the WYG ecology appraisal 
report dated Dec 2020 before any decommissioning works;  

(iii) an agreed amenity mitigation strategy to be submitted within 2 months of 
the implementation of any approved Gypsy/traveller allocation. 

 
The Senior Planning Officer then went through the main issues as detailed in 
the report. 
 
Principle of Development  
 
The Council under Policy S19 of ALP1 seeks to promote the development of 
renewable and low carbon energy resources provided the impacts (either in 
isolation or cumulatively) are, or can be made acceptable. The proposal relates 
to the continued retention of the existing wind turbines located at the site for an 
additional 10-year timescale. The principle of the development has therefore 
been previously accepted in the past. Members need to re-evaluate the merits 
of the proposal in the context of the present updated planning policy context 
and indeed any change of circumstances arising during the original operational 
timescale of the windfarm development.  
 
Landscape and Visual 
 
The existing turbines are located in an area already reflecting a windfarm/ 
industrial landscape on a section of the coastline which incorporates a wide 
range of existing large scale man-made commercial and industrial 
infrastructure. Officers are of the opinion that the continued retention of the 
turbines would not have a significant individual or cumulative impact on its host 
or neighbouring landscape character. 
 
Visual Impact and Amenity 
 
The extent of visual effects is greatest and most significant in short term views 
of the site, which diminishes with distance. However cumulatively when viewed 
alongside neighbouring Siddick windfarm, there are some significant receptors 
at greater distances, albeit within an established urban setting. The windfarms 
turbines are within 800m of a large number of existing residential properties 

Page 11



(predominately in the Siddick hamlet, a cluster of dwellings north of Dunmail 
Park, Northside and properties on Stanley St at the port), a number of which will 
have direct views which is likely to have an impact on the amenity of the 
residents of these properties. However, officers attach significant weight Page 
42 that, unlike new turbine development, the proposal relates to existing 
turbines which have been in existence for a considerable period of time and 
therefore are accepted as part of the streetscape in their locality. (especially 
given its urban setting with large scale commercial/ industrial plant and 
buildings in its immediate locality). 
 
Noise 
 
Noise is a material planning consideration Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1) seeks to safeguard amenity. An updated noise assessment has been 
undertaken as well as a noise assessment of the proposal to evaluate the noise 
impact in the locality of the site. There are high existing background noise levels 
in the locality of the site due to the existing nearby uses and proximity to 
transport corridors. The Environmental health officers have assessed this 
evidence that has been updated during the course of the application. 
 
Gypsy Site Allocation 
 
One additional significant consideration is the local plan Gypsy, Travellers and 
Travelling show people allocated site under Policy SA31 of ALP2 at the former 
caravan site at Oldside. Albeit not yet formally approved or implemented it 
would represent a residential use that is expected to be delivered within the 
timeframe of the local plan (i.e. prior to 2029). These caravans would have the 
same status as residential units with the need to evaluate potential future 
impacts on noise, shadow flicker and visual amenity. 
 
Highways 
 
As an existing development with little traffic generation, subject to conditions 
relating to decommissioning operations the proposed development would not 
have an adverse impact on the highway network. No objections were received 
from the highway authority. 
 
Nature Conservation 
 
Policy S35 seeks to safeguard and protect biodiversity. The proposal and the 
wider site has naturally regenerated supporting a range of habitats (including 
specific reference to the Small blue butterfly colonies). The three more northern 
turbines are site within the designated County Wildlife site and are therefore 
more sensitive to future works. The site of Siddick pond’s SSSI is located 0.2km 
to the east. Any constructional impacts on nature conservation has already 
occurred through the implementation of the turbines. It is acknowledged there 
may be some disturbance at the decommissioning stage 
 
Drainage 
 

Page 12



Flood risk and /or contamination of water are not anticipated to increase as a 
result of the development although mitigation measures would be required by 
planning condition. 
 
Potential Benefits 
 
The windfarm will continue to make a valuable contribution to renewable energy 
deployment nationally. All of the energy produced will be exported. 
 
Members were also shown images and plans of the site, including views of the 
Wind Turbines both from neighbouring dwellings and from various viewpoints 
around the local area. 
 
The Senior Planning Officer then went through the late list and the amendments 
to the National Planning Policy Framework 2021, Chapter 14. 
 
‘158. When determining planning applications for renewable and low carbon 
development, local planning authorities should: 
 

a) not require applicants to demonstrate the overall need for renewable or 
low carbon energy, and recognise that even small-scale projects provide 
a valuable contribution to cutting greenhouse gas emissions; and 

b) approve the application if its impacts are (or can be made) acceptable. 
Once suitable areas for renewable and low carbon energy have been 
identified in plans, local planning authorities should expect subsequent 
applications for commercial scale projects outside these areas to 
demonstrate that the proposed location meets the criteria used in 
identifying suitable areas.”  

 
Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report.  
 
As per the previous application (VAR/2020/0503), officers explained that they 
will clarify as to whether Workington Town Council should be a consultee and 
any approval will be pending on any representations from them. 
 
Members then asked questions in relation to the Gypsy and Traveller site, noise 
impacts, the S106 agreement, biodiversity and the productivity of the Windfarm. 
 
Councillor Scott moved the motion to approve as per officers recommendations 
with an additional condition to introduce regular structural inspections of the 
turbines which are to be undertaken no more than 12 months apart. 
 
The motion was seconded by Councillor McGuckin. 
 
Debate then ensued in relation to nature and conservation, and the peer 
assessment of the ecological evidence. 
 
Following debate, Councillor McGuckin withdrew as seconder to Councillor 
Scott’s motion as he wanted to defer the application to seek increased financial 
contribution to nature conservation projects. 
 

Page 13



Councillor Armstrong then seconded the original motion. 
 
A vote was taken on the motion to approve 7 voted in favour, 4 against and 0 
abstentions. 
 
Resolution 
 
Permission granted subject to conditions, with an additional condition to 
introduce regular structural inspections of the turbines which are to be 
undertaken no more than 12 months apart. 
 
In Accordance: 
 

1. The development shall be implemented solely in accordance with 
the following plans:  
Approved plans 2/1995/0916 
Letter re amended strategy dated 4th June re Policy S31 mitigation 
measures. 
A108660 Oldside windfarm Ecological appraisal  
A108660 Siddick Windfarm HRA 
A108660 Oldside  Wind Farm Shadow Flicker report  ISSUE 2 
A108660 Oldside and Siddick windfarm Noise 10 Dec 
 
Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 
 

Post-commencement/Pre use commencing conditions: 
 

2. All of the existing materials on the service/ access tracks within the site 
shall, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the local planning authority, 
be retained for the lifetime of the development. 
 
Reason: To ensure that possible dereliction an unsightliness of the 
site is avoided. 

 
3. If at any time any turbine shall cease being operational for a 

continuous period of six months it, and any ancillary equipment 
shall be removed from the site and the land reinstated unless 
further planning permission for its replacement has been granted in 
the meantime. 
 
Reason: To ensure that possible dereliction an unsightliness of the site is 
avoided. 
 

4. The turbines herby approved shall all rotate in the same direction. 
 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt. 
 

5. The number of wind turbines shall not exceed nine. 
 
Reason: To limit the development to that applied for. 

 

Page 14



6. This s73 approval is for an extended operational period of 10 years 
up to the end of October 2031, upon which the operational use of 
the turbines shall cease. Prior to decommissioning of the turbines, 
details of a decommissioning plan including:  

a. The removal of all development above or below ground level 
or 

b. Details of the replacement grass cover to reinstate the land to 
a satisfactory condition to the former grass cover  

c. Removal or deposition of spoil within 12 months of the 
cessation of the operational use of the turbines shall be 
submitted to and approved, by the local planning authority. 
The works shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details.  

 
Reason: To ensure that possible dereliction an unsightliness of the site is 
avoided. 
 

7. Prior to the commencement of any decommissioning works details 
of wheel washing facilities shall be submitted to and approved by 
the local planning authority. The approved details shall be installed 
prior to the commencement of the de-commissioning works and 
shall be retained and made available at all times during the course 
of these works.  
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety 
 

8. Within 2 months of the date of this consent, a written scheme shall 
be submitted to and approved by the local planning authority 
setting out a shadow flicker protocol for the assessment of shadow 
flicker in the event of any complaint from the owner or occupier of a 
dwelling which lawfully exists or had planning permission at the 
date of the complaint. The written scheme shall include remedial 
measures and the operation of the turbines shall take place in 
accordance with the approved protocol unless the local planning 
authority gives its prior written consent to any variations.  
 
Reason. To ensure a satisfactory standard of residential amenity to 
nearby properties in compliance with policy S32 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan Part 1. 
 

9. No development shall take place until a Decommissioning 
Environmental Management plan (DEMP) has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
statement shall include the following:  
 

a. Traffic Management Plan to include all traffic associated with 
the development, including site and staff traffic, off-site 
parking, turning and compound areas;  

b. Procedure to monitor and mitigate pollution, noise and 
vibration from the decommissioning works and to monitor 
any residential properties or wildlife habitats at risk 
(including type of generators, fuel storage facilities, spillage 

Page 15



procedures and oil types use in plant working on the site), as 
well as taking into account noise from vehicles, deliveries. All 
noise measurements should make reference to BS7445.  

c. Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential 
properties from decommissioning compounds including 
visual impact, noise, and light pollution.  

d. Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during 
construction and demolition (including any wheel washing 
facilities);  

e. Programme of work for Demolition and Construction phase;  
f. Hours of working and deliveries;  
g. Details of lighting to be used on site;  
h. Highway signage/ Haulage routes. 

The approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the 
duration of the development.  
 
Reason: In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of the occupiers of 
neighbouring properties and the habitats and designated local wildlife 
species during the decommissioning works, in compliance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S32 and S35 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014 and in the interests of 
highway safety. 
 

10. Prior to any decommissioning works a Biodiversity Management 
Plan (including an Environmental Construction Management plan) 
shall be submitted to and approved by the local planning authority. 
The plan shall include details on measures and details to be 
implemented during and after the course of construction works at 
the site to safeguard the habit of protected species at the site. The 
works shall be implemented solely in accordance with the approved 
details and thereafter managed at all times in accordance with the 
approved scheme.  
 
Reason: In the interests of safeguarding local wildlife and biodiversity in 
compliance with Policy S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014. 

 
11.  Noise from the wind turbines hereby consented shall not exceed 

the following LA90, 10min noise levels specified within Table 1 and 
2 below at downwind free-field locations representing receptors as 
shown in Figure 1 and Table 3 as detailed within the Tetra Tech 
noise assessment December 2020. Background noise and turbine 
noise measurements to be carried out in line with the Institute of 
Acoustics Good Practice Guide to the application of ETSU-R-97 for 
the assessment and rating of wind turbine noise” taking account of 
all guidance notes for noise conditions. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 16



Table 1 Noise Level Criteria at R1, R2, R3, R4, R5, R6 & R9 
 

 
 
Table 2 Noise Level Criteria at R7 and R8 
 

 
 

 Table 3 Noise Sensitive Receptors 
 

 
 

Reason. To ensure a satisfactory standard of residential amenity to 
nearby properties in compliance with Policy S32 of the Allerdale local 
plan part 1. 

 
12. Within 21 days of a written request by the Local Planning Authority, 

following a complaint to it from a resident alleging noise 
disturbance at the dwelling at which they reside and where Excess 
Amplitude Modulation is considered by the Local Planning 
Authority to be present in the noise emissions at the complainant’s 
property, the wind farm operator shall submit a scheme, for the 
approval of the local planning authority, providing for the further 
investigation and, as necessary, control of Excess AM. Relevant 
background noise levels to inform the limits should be agreed with 
the Local Planning Authority prior to any compliance 
measurements. The scheme shall be based on best available 
techniques and shall be implemented as approved by the Local 

Page 17



Planning Authority within 1 month post completion of 
measurements.  
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of residential amenity to 
nearby properties in compliance with policy S32 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan Part 1. 
 

13. An annual report reviewing the structural condition of the turbines 
shall be prepared by the developer and submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority prior to the 31st October 2028 for each year for 
the remaining lifetime of the temporary consent. Any identified 
mitigation /repair works shall thereafter be implemented and 
maintained in accordance with the approved scheme. 
 
Reason: To ensure the long term structural stability of the turbines 
hereby approved.   

 
135. Development Panel - LBC/2021/0022 - Blencogo Farm, Blencogo - Listed 

building consent for installation of integrated PV panels in roof  
 
Representations 
 
The Agent, Ken Thompson spoke in support of the application. 
 
Applications 
 
The report recommended refusal. 
 
The Planning Officer then went through the main issues as detailed in the 
report. 
 
Principle of Development 
 
The principle of change of use and works to the roof has been established 
under FUL/2020/0153 and LBC/2020/0019. 
 
Heritage 
 
The barn is significant in terms of architecture and history as a curtilage listed 
building. The roof is also visible in the setting of the adjacent listed building. The 
integrated PV panels will be visible in the context of the surrounding natural 
slate tiles and result in harm to the appearance of the curtilage listed building. 
 
Sustainability 
 
The integrated PV panels would result in a renewable source of energy for the 
new dwelling and would not be irreversible. However, the conservation of 
heritage assets is also a key part of sustainable development. 
 
Members were also shown images and plans of the site, including views of the 
listed building. 
 

Page 18



The Planning Officer then went through the late list and the amendments to the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2021, Chapter 16. 
 
“Para 202. Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial 
harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be 
weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where 
appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.”  
 
For clarity into ref 10.13 of the officers report, under the criteria of the NPPF the 
proposed works would constitute development that would be of “less than 
substantial harm”  
 
Officers clarified that the recommendation to refuse – ‘the planning authority 
consider the proposed use of modern integrated PV panels on the primary 
frontage of the curtilage listed building would have a substantial harmful impact 
on the historic significance, value and appearance of the curtilage listed barn 
and the wider group setting of the farmstead’s Grade II listed farmhouse and 
barn which is not outweighed by public benefits. Therefore, the proposal is 
contrary to Policy S27 of the Local Plan (Part 1) and Para 202 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework 2021’. 
 
Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report.  
 
Members asked questions of the speaker and officers in relation to fire safety, 
energy efficiency of the tiles, the history of the planning application and the 
listed building. 
 
 
Members then debated the proposal, with several members stating that they are 
in support of the application. 
 
Councillor Daniels moved the motion to approve the application, in contrary to 
officers recommendation as the renewal energy benefits outweigh any ‘less 
than substantial’ harm. 
 
The motion was seconded by Councillor McGuckin 
 
The Senior Planning Officer advised members that if the application was to be 
approved, suggested conditions relating to time limits and ‘in accordance with 
plans’, should be added. The proposer and seconder agreed with these 
conditions are were added to the motion.  
 
A vote was taken on the motion to approve, 8 voted in favour, 1 against and 2 
abstentions. 
 
The motion was carried. 
 
Resolution 
 
Application approved. 
 

Page 19



Conditions 
 

1. The works hereby consented shall be begun before the expiration 
of three years from the date of this permission 
 
Reason: In order to comply with Section 18(1) of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in 

accordance with the following plans: 
TH/KT/21/01 Installation of PV Panels 
PVSlate_Datasheet_v4.5 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in 
complete accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-
material alterations to the scheme are properly considered. 

 
136. Development Panel - LBC/2021/0028 - Pear Tree farm, Blennerhasset - 

Listed Building consent for the installation of an electrical vehicle 
charging point to the boundary wall  
 
Application 
 
The report recommended to grant permission subject to conditions. 
 
The Planning Officer went through the main issues as detailed in the report. 
 
Heritage 
 
The building is Grade 2 listed and within the conservation area. Parking is 
established to the front and the energy point is small and well designed. The 
works are reversible and improve the existing situation where cables are run 
over the wall. Any harm is immaterial if at all. 
 
Sustainability 
 
The charging point enables the use of electric cars. 
 
The Planning Officer then went through the late list and the amendments to the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2021, Chapter 16. 
 
202. Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to 
the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed 
against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, 
securing its optimum viable use.  
 
Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report.  
 
Councillor McGuckin moved the motion to approve the application as per 
officers recommendations. 
 

Page 20



The motion was seconded by Councillor Munby 
 
A vote was taken on the motion to approve, 11 voted in favour, 0 against, 0 
abstentions. 
 
The motion was carried. 
 
Resolution 
 
Permission granted as per officers recommendations. 
 
Conditions 
 
Time limit  
 

1.  The works hereby consented shall be begun before the expiration 
of three years from the date of this permission. 

 
Reason: In order to comply with Section 18(1) of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

 
In accordance  
 

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in 
accordance with the following plans: 
0.1 - Location Plan  
0.2 - Photograph of charging point location  
0.3 - Image of proposed charging point 

 
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in 
complete accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-
material alterations to the scheme are properly considered. 
 

Pro-active Statement / Notes to Applicant  
 

Application Approved Without Amendment  
 

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in 
determining this application by assessing the proposal against, primarily, 
the development plan policies, any duties applicable and also all material 
considerations, including emerging Local Plan policy, the National 
Planning Policy Framework and any stakeholder representations that 
may have been received. It has subsequently determined to grant 
planning permission. 

 
The meeting closed at 2.50 pm 
 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 22



At a meeting of the Development Panel held in SEN Centre, Lakes College, Workington 
CA14 4JN on Tuesday 31 August 2021 at 11.00 am 
 
Members 
 
Councillor Tony Annison (Chair) Councillor Janet Farebrother (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Carole Armstrong Councillor Nicky Cockburn 
Councillor Allan Daniels Councillor Hilary Harrington 
Councillor Elaine Lynch Councillor Antony McGuckin 
Councillor Ron Munby MBE Councillor Paul Scott 
Councillor Alan Smith Councillor Alan Tyson 
 
Apologies for absence were received from  Councillor Daniel Horsley, Councillor 
George Kemp and Councillor Andrew Semple 
 
Staff Present 
 
J Irving, L Jardine, S Long, J Morgan and L Tomlinson 
 
 
147. Minutes  

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 15 June 2021 were signed as a correct 
record. 

148. Declaration of Interests  
 
9. Development Panel - VAR/2021/0001 - Plot 1 Land adjacent to 
Northscape, Eaglesfield - Dwelling. 
 Councillor Ron Munby MBE; Other Interest; Has shares in United 
Utilities, (under the DPI Limit). 

149. Questions  
 
None received 

 Councillor Farebrother joined the meeting   
  
150. Development Panel - FUL/2019/0251 - Langrigg Hall, Langrigg - 

Retrospective application for change of farm buildings to house 1x CHP 
and 1x RHI unit and erection of associated chimneys  
 
Councillor Annison moved the motion to defer the item as key officers and 
experts were unable to attend the meeting. 
 
The motion was seconded by Councillor Scott 
 
A vote was taken on the motion, 11 voted in favour, 0 against and 0 
abstentions. 
 
The motion was carried. 
 
Resolution 
 
Application deferred until 14 September 2021 

Page 23



151. Development Panel - FUL/2020/0022 - Langrigg Hall, Langrigg - Change of 
use of building for storage of woodchip fuel for boilers associated with 
farm  
 
Councillor Annison moved the motion to defer the item as key officers and 
experts were unable to attend the meeting. 
 
The motion was seconded by Councillor Scott 
 
A vote was taken on the motion, 11 voted in favour, 0 against and 0 
abstentions. 
 
The motion was carried. 
 
Resolution 
 
Application deferred until 14 September 2021 

152. Development Panel - VAR/2020/0503 - Siddick Windfarm - Variation to 
approved application 2/1995/0342  
 
Application 
 
The report recommended approval subject to: 
 

i) The securing of a S106 legal agreement to: 
 
a. Provide a £15k contribution to nature conservation projects in the 

locality of the site; (prior to the end of January 2022). 
 

b. The undertaking of a Greater Crested Newt survey in the year 
prior to the decommissioning works. 

 
The Senior Planning Officer explained that this item was considered at the 
Development Panel on 03 August 2021. Members approved the application in 
accordance with officers approval recommendation subject to a S106 and 
planning conditions (as amended by the details on the late list) plus an 
additional condition requested by members for an annual structural survey of 
the turbines. 
 
A question was however raised at the last meeting as to whether Workington 
Town Council should have been a mandatory consultee. Following 
investigation, the site is within the Workington Parish and there for have been 
consulted on the proposal. 
 
At the time of the meeting, Workington Town Council did not provide any 
representations. 
 
Members were asked to consider this plus the late list comments from Natural 
England and the applicant in relation to the structural report condition proposed, 
with the applicant asking members to review this condition. The proposal 
remained identical to that considered at the 03 August 2021 meeting. 
 

Page 24



Members were also shown images and plans of the application site. 
 
The Senior Planning Officer also advised members of the updates to the 
National Planning Policy Framework, Chapter 14.  
 
“158. When determining planning applications for renewable and low carbon 
development, local planning authorities should:  
 

a) not require applicants to demonstrate the overall need for renewable or 
low carbon energy, and recognise that even small-scale projects provide 
a valuable contribution to cutting greenhouse gas emissions; and  

b) approve the application if its impacts are (or can be made) acceptable. 
Once suitable areas for renewable and low carbon energy have been 
identified in plans, local planning authorities should expect subsequent 
applications for commercial scale projects outside these areas to 
demonstrate that the proposed location meets the criteria used in 
identifying suitable areas.” 

Members then asked questions of the officer in relation to nature, residential 
amenity and maintenance. 
 
Debate ensued in relation to shadow flicker and safety of the turbines.  
 
Councillor Annison moved the motion to grant permission as per officers 
recommendation. 
 
The motion was seconded by Councillor McGuckin. 
 
Councillor Lynch then moved an amendment to the motion; to grant permission 
but with an amendment to condition 13 requiring annual inspection of the 
turbines only for the last 3 years of their lifespan – this was following 
consideration of the applicants evidence as submitted on the late list. 
 
As proposer and seconder of the original motion, Councillor Annison and 
Councillor McGuckin agreed to the amendment. 
 
A vote was taken on the amended motion, 8 voted in favour, 3 against and 0 
abstentions. 
 
The motion was carried. 
 
Resolution 
 
Permission granted as per officers recommendations with an amendment to 
condition 13 requiring annual inspection of the turbines only for the last 3 years 
of their lifespan. 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
In Accordance: 
 

1. The development shall be implemented solely in accordance with 
the following plans:  

Page 25



Approved plans 2/1995 /0342 
 
Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 
 

2. All of the existing materials on the service/access tracks within the 
site shall, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the local planning 
authority, be retained for the lifetime of the development. 
 
Reason: To ensure that possible dereliction an unsightliness of the site is 
avoided. 
 

3. If at any time any turbine shall cease being operational for a 
continuous period of six months it, and any ancillary equipment 
shall be removed from the site and the land reinstated unless 
further planning permission for its replacement has been granted in 
the meantime. 

 
Reason: To ensure that possible dereliction an unsightliness of the site is 
avoided. 
 

4. The turbines herby approved shall all rotate in the same direction. 
 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt. 
 

5. The number of wind turbines shall not exceed seven.  
 
Reason: To limit the development to that applied for. 
 

6. This s73 approval is for an extended operational period of 10 years 
up to the end of December 2031, upon which the operational use of 
the turbines shall cease. Prior to decommissioning of the turbines, 
details of a decommissioning plan including:  
a) the removal of all development above or below ground level or,  
b) details of the replacement grass cover to reinstate the land to a 
satisfactory condition to the former grass cover,  
c) removal or deposition of spoil within 12 months of the cessation 
of the operational use of the turbines shall be submitted to and 
approved, by the local planning authority. The works shall be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details.  
 
Reason: To ensure that possible dereliction an unsightliness of the site is 
avoided. 
 

7. Prior to the commencement of any decommissioning works details 
of wheel washing facilities shall be submitted to and approved by 
the local planning authority. The approved details shall be installed 
prior to the commencement of the de-commissioning works and 
shall be retained and made available at all times during the course 
of these works.  
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety 

Page 26



 
8. Prior to the decommissioning works a Decommissioning 

Environmental Management Plan (DEMP) has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
statement shall include the following:  

a. Traffic Management Plan to include all traffic associated with 
the development, including site and staff traffic, off-site 
parking, turning and compound areas;  

b. Procedure to monitor and mitigate pollution, noise and 
vibration from the decommissioning works and to monitor 
any residential properties or wildlife habitats at risk 
(including type of generators, fuel storage facilities, spillage 
procedures and oil types use in plant working on the site), as 
well as taking into account noise from vehicles, deliveries. All 
noise measurements should make reference to BS7445.  

c. Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential 
properties from decommissioning compounds including 
visual impact, noise, and light pollution.  

d. Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during 
construction and demolition (including any wheel washing 
facilities);  

e. Programme of work for Demolition and Construction phase;  
f. Hours of working and deliveries;  
g. Details of lighting to be used on site;  
h. Highway signage/ Haulage routes. 
The approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the 
duration of the development.  
 
Reason: In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of the occupiers 
of neighbouring properties and the habitats and designated local 
wildlife species of the Solway Firth pSPA during the decommissioning 
works, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework 
and Policy S32 and S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted 
July 2014 and in the interests of highway safety. 
 

9. Prior to any decommissioning works a Biodiversity Management 
Plan (including an Environmental Construction Management plan) 
shall be submitted to and approved by the local planning authority. 
The plan shall include details on measures and details to be 
implemented during and after the course of construction works at 
the site to safeguard the habit of protected species at the site. The 
works shall be implemented solely in accordance with the approved 
details and thereafter managed at all times in accordance with the 
approved scheme.  
 
Reason : In the interests of safeguarding local wildlife and biodiversity in 
compliance with Policy S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014. 
 

10. Within 2 months of the date of this consent, a written scheme shall 
be submitted to by the local planning authority setting out a shadow 
flicker protocol for the assessment of Shadow Flicker (including the 
implementation of the mitigation measures recommended in para 

Page 27



4.3.4. of the WYG Shadow Flicker report (issue 3) dated 27/05/21. 
The approved mitigation details shall be implemented within 2 
months of their approval. The protocol shall also outline the 
process in the event of any future complaint from the owner or 
occupier of a dwelling which lawfully exists or had planning 
permission at the date of the complaint. The written scheme shall 
include remedial measures. The operation of the turbines shall take 
place in accordance with the approved protocol unless the local 
planning authority gives its prior written consent to any variations.  
 
Reason. To ensure a satisfactory standard of residential amenity to 
nearby properties in compliance with Policy S32 of the Allerdale local 
plan part 1. 
 

11. Noise from the wind turbines hereby consented shall not exceed 
the following LA90,10min noise levels specified within Table 1 and 2 
below at downwind free-field locations representing receptors as 
shown in Figure 1 and Table 3 as detailed within the TetraTech 
noise assessment December 2020. Background noise and turbine 
noise measurements to be carried out in line with the Institute of 
Acoustics Good Practice Guide to the application of ETSU-R-97 for 
the assessment and rating of wind turbine noise taking account of 
all guidance notes for noise conditions.  
 
Table 1 Noise Level Criteria at R1, R2, R3, R4, R5, R6 & R9 
 

 
 
Table 2 Noise Level Criteria at R7 and R8 
 

 
 
Table 3 – Noise Sensitive Receptors 
 

Page 28



 
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of residential amenity to 
nearby properties in compliance with Policy S32 of the Allerdale local 
plan part 1. 
 

12. Within 21 days of this consent and any future written request by the 
Local Planning Authority, following a complaint to it from a resident 
alleging noise disturbance at the dwelling at which they reside and 
where Excess Amplitude Modulation is considered by the Local 
Planning Authority to be present in the noise emissions at the 
complainant’s property, the wind farm operator shall submit a 
scheme, for the approval of the local planning authority, providing 
for the further investigation and, as necessary, control of Excess 
AM. Relevant background noise levels to inform the limits should 
be agreed with the Local Planning Authority prior to any 
compliance measurements. The scheme shall be based on best 
available techniques and shall be implemented as approved by the 
Local Planning Authority within 1 month post completion of 
measurements.  
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of residential amenity to 
nearby properties in compliance with policy S32 of the Allerdale local 
plan part 1. 
 

13. An annual report reviewing the structural condition of the turbines 
shall be prepared by the developer and submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority prior to the 31st October 2028 and thereafter 
annually each year for the remaining lifetime of the temporary 
consent. Any identified mitigation /repair works shall thereafter be 
implemented and maintained in accordance with the approved 
scheme. 
 
Reason: To ensure the long term structural stability of the turbines hereb 
 
 

 
 
 
  
 
 

Page 29



 
153. Development Panel - VAR/2020/0504 - Oldside WindFarm - Variation to 

approved application 2/1995/0916  
 
Application 
 
The report recommended approval subject to: 

i. £14,080 contribution to nature conservation projects in the locality of the 
site;(prior to 31/01/22) 

ii. undertake the identified additional amphibian, reptile, bat, badger, otter 
and invertebrate ecology surveys within the WYG ecology appraisal 
report dated Dec 2020 before any decommissioning works; 

iii. The submission and approval of an agreed amenity mitigation strategy in 
the event of the allocated Gypsy/traveller allocation being both 
approved and implemented (within 2 months of the implementation of 
any approved scheme for the allocation).  

iv. Before development commences, a detailed method statement for the 
long-term management/ eradication of invasive species on the site as 
outlined in the WYG ecological appraisal report dated December 
2020 on the site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The method statement shall include 
proposed measures to prevent the spread of Japanese Knotweed 
during any operations such as mowing, strimming or soil movement. 
It shall also contain measures to ensure that any soils brought to the 
site are free of the seeds, roots or stem of any invasive plant covered 
under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. Development shall 
proceed in accordance with the approved method statement. 

 
The Senior Planning Officer explained that this item was considered at the 
Development Panel on 03 August 2021. Members approved the application in 
accordance with officers approval recommendation subject to a S106 and 
planning conditions (as amended by the details on the late list) plus an 
additional condition requested by members for an annual structural survey of 
the turbines. 
 
A question was however raised at the last meeting as to whether Workington 
Town Council should have been a mandatory consultee. Following 
investigation, the site is within the Workington Parish and there for have been 
consulted on the proposal. 
 
At the time of the meeting, Workington Town Council did not provide any 
representations. 
 
Members were asked to consider this plus the late list comments from Natural 
England and the applicant in relation to the structural report condition proposed, 
with the applicant asking members to review this condition. The proposal 
remained identical to that considered at the 03 August 2021 meeting. 
 
Members were also shown images and plans of the application site. 
 
The Senior Planning Officer also advised members of the updates to the 
National Planning Policy Framework, Chapter 14.  

Page 30



 
“158. When determining planning applications for renewable and low carbon 
development, local planning authorities should:  
 

a) not require applicants to demonstrate the overall need for renewable or 
low carbon energy, and recognise that even small-scale projects provide 
a valuable contribution to cutting greenhouse gas emissions; and  

b) approve the application if its impacts are (or can be made) acceptable. 
Once suitable areas for renewable and low carbon energy have been 
identified in plans, local planning authorities should expect subsequent 
applications for commercial scale projects outside these areas to 
demonstrate that the proposed location meets the criteria used in 
identifying suitable areas.” 

 
Councillor Annison moved the motion to approve as per officers 
recommendations with an amendment to condition 13 requiring annual 
inspection of the turbines only for the last 3 years of their lifespan - this was 
following consideration of the applicants evidence as submitted on the late list. 
 
The motion was seconded by Councillor McGuckin 
 
A vote was taken on the motion, 9 voted in favour, 2 against and 0 abstentions. 
 
The motion was carried. 
 
Resolution 
 
Permission granted as per officers recommendations with an amendment to 
condition 13 requiring annual inspection of the turbines only for the last 3 years 
of their lifespan. 
 
CONDITIONS  
 
In Accordance:  
 

1. The development shall be implemented solely in accordance with 
the following plans:  
Approved plans 2/1995/0916  
Letter re amended strategy dated 4th June re Policy S31 mitigation 
measures.  
A108660 Oldside windfarm Ecological appraisal  
A108660 Oldside Windfarm HRA  
A108660 Oldside Wind Farm Shadow Flicker report ISSUE 2  
A108660 Oldside and Siddick windfarm Noise 10 Dec 2020  
 
Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 
 

Post-commencement/Pre use commencing conditions:  
2. All of the existing materials on the service/ access tracks within the 

site shall, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the local planning 
authority, be retained for the lifetime of the development.  

Page 31



 
Reason: To ensure that possible dereliction an unsightliness of the site is 
avoided. 
 

3. If at any time any turbine shall cease being operational for a 
continuous period of six months it, and any ancillary equipment 
shall be removed from the site and the land reinstated unless 
further planning permission for its replacement has been granted in 
the meantime.  
 
Reason: To ensure that possible dereliction an unsightliness of the site is 
avoided.  
 

4. The turbines herby approved shall all rotate in the same direction.  
 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt.  
 

5. The number of wind turbines shall not exceed nine.  
 
Reason: To limit the development to that applied for. 
 

6. This s73 approval is for an extended operational period of 10 years 
up to the end of October 2031, upon which the operational use of 
the turbines shall cease. Prior to decommissioning of the turbines, 
details of a decommissioning plan including:  

a. The removal of all development above or below ground level 
or 

b. Details of the replacement grass cover to reinstate the land to 
a satisfactory condition to the former grass cover  

c. Removal or deposition of spoil within 12 months of the 
cessation of the operational use of the turbines shall be 
submitted to and approved, by the local planning authority. 
The works shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details.  
 

Reason: To ensure that possible dereliction an unsightliness of the site is 
avoided.  
 

7. Prior to the commencement of any decommissioning works details 
of wheel washing facilities shall be submitted to and approved by 
the local planning authority. The approved details shall be installed 
prior to the commencement of the de-commissioning works and 
shall be retained and made available at all times during the course 
of these works.  
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety 
 

8. Within 2 months of the date of this consent, a written scheme shall 
be submitted to and approved by the local planning authority 
setting out a shadow flicker protocol for the assessment of shadow 
flicker in the event of any complaint from the owner or occupier of a 
dwelling which lawfully exists or had planning permission at the 

Page 32



date of the complaint. The written scheme shall include remedial 
measures and the operation of the turbines shall take place in 
accordance with the approved protocol unless the local planning 
authority gives its prior written consent to any variations.  
 
Reason. To ensure a satisfactory standard of residential amenity to 
nearby properties in compliance with policy S32 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan Part 1 
 

9. No development shall take place until a Decommissioning 
Environmental Management plan (DEMP) has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
statement shall include the following:  

a. Traffic Management Plan to include all traffic associated with 
the development, including site and staff traffic, off-site 
parking, turning and compound areas;  

b. Procedure to monitor and mitigate pollution, noise and 
vibration from the decommissioning works and to monitor 
any residential properties or wildlife habitats at risk 
(including type of generators, fuel storage facilities, spillage 
procedures and oil types use in plant working on the site), as 
well as taking into account noise from vehicles, deliveries. All 
noise measurements should make reference to BS7445.  

c. Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential 
properties from decommissioning compounds including 
visual impact, noise, and light pollution.  

d. Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during 
construction and demolition (including any wheel washing 
facilities);  

e. Programme of work for Demolition and Construction phase; 
f. Hours of working and deliveries;  
g. Details of lighting to be used on site;  
h. Highway signage/ Haulage routes. The approved statement 

shall be adhered to throughout the duration of the 
development.  

 
Reason: In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of the occupiers of 
neighbouring properties and the habitats and designated local wildlife 
species during the decommissioning works, in compliance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S32 and S35 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014 and in the interests of 
highway safety. 
 

10. Prior to the decommissioning works a Biodiversity Management 
Plan (including an Environmental Construction Management plan) 
shall be submitted to and approved by the local planning authority. 
The plan shall include details on measures and details to be 
implemented during and after the course of construction works at 
the site to safeguard the habit of protected species at the site. The 
works shall be implemented solely in accordance with the approved 
details and thereafter managed at all times in accordance with the 
approved scheme.  

Page 33



 
Reason: In the interests of safeguarding local wildlife and biodiversity in 
compliance with Policy S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014. 
 

11. Noise from the wind turbines hereby consented shall not exceed 
the following LA90, 10min noise levels specified within Table 1 and 
2 below at downwind free-field locations representing receptors as 
shown in Figure 1 and Table 3 as detailed within the Tetra Tech 
noise assessment December 2020. Background noise and turbine 
noise measurements to be carried out in line with the Institute of 
Acoustics Good Practice Guide to the application of ETSU-R-97 for 
the assessment and rating of wind turbine noise” taking account of 
all guidance notes for noise conditions. 
 
Table 1 Noise Level Criteria at R1, R2, R3, R4, R5, R6 & R9 
 

 
 
Table 2 Noise Level Criteria at R7 and R8 
 

 
 
Table 3 – Noise Sensitive Receptors 
 

 
 

Page 34



Reason. To ensure a satisfactory standard of residential amenity to 
nearby properties in compliance with Policy S32 of the Allerdale 
local plan part 1. 
 

12. Within 21 days of a written request by the Local Planning Authority, 
following a complaint to it from a resident alleging noise 
disturbance at the dwelling at which they reside and where Excess 
Amplitude Modulation is considered by the Local Planning 
Authority to be present in the noise emissions at the complainant’s 
property, the wind farm operator shall submit a scheme, for the 
approval of the local planning authority, providing for the further 
investigation and, as necessary, control of Excess AM. Relevant 
background noise levels to inform the limits should be agreed with 
the Local Planning Authority prior to any compliance 
measurements. The scheme shall be based on best available 
techniques and shall be implemented as approved by the Local 
Planning Authority within 1 month post completion of 
measurements.  
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of residential amenity to 
nearby properties in compliance with policy S32 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan Part 1. 
 

13. An annual report reviewing the structural condition of the turbines 
shall be prepared by the developer and submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority prior to the 31st October 2028 and thereafter 
annually each year for the remaining lifetime of the temporary 
consent. Any identified mitigation /repair works shall thereafter be 
implemented and maintained in accordance with the approved 
scheme. 
 
Reason: To ensure the long term structural stability of the turbines 
hereby 
 

 
 

 Councillor Smith joined the meeting   
  
 Meeting adjourned 11:45am - 11:55am   
  
 Councillor Munby left the meeting and moved to the public gallery   
  
154. Development Panel - VAR/2021/0001 - Plot 1 Land adjacent to Northscape, 

Eaglesfield - Dwelling  
 
Representations 
 
David Keevil and Jenny White spoke against the application 
 
Councillor Marion Fitzgerald spoke against the application 
 
The Agent, Paul Boustead spoke in support of the application 

Page 35



 
Application 
 
The report recommended to grant permission subject to conditions 
 
The Senior Planning Officer then went through the main issues as detailed in 
the report 
 
Principle of Development 
 
Principle of residential development has been accepted. The application varies 
the approved permission. 
 
Design/Scale 
 
Scale, design and massing considered acceptable in relation to its setting. 
 
Drainage 
 
Foul to main sewer and surface water to rainwater harvesting system is 
acceptable full details of examination hierarchy required to be submitted within 
2 months of decision date. 
 
Residential Amenity 
 
No significant harm to nearby properties  
 
Access and Parking 
 
Access and parking are considered to be satisfactory 
 
Members were shown plans of the site including drainage layout, and images of 
the surrounding area. 
 
Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report. 
 
Members asked questions of the speakers and officers in relation to cladding, 
boundary walls, sewage, flooding, conditions and water drainage/hierarchy. 
 
Debate then ensued in relation to the surface water drainage scheme and 
condition four, in particular the two-month timescale for this to be submitted. 
 
Councillor Cockburn moved the motion to defer the application until a surface 
water drainage scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 
 
The motion was seconded by Councillor Daniels. 
 
A vote was taken on the motion, 10 voted in favour, 1 against and 0 
abstentions. 
 

Page 36



Resolution 
 
Application deferred. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The meeting closed at 1.30 pm 
 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 38



At a meeting of the Development Panel held in Wigton Market Hall, CA7 9AA on 
Tuesday 14 September 2021 at 1.00 pm 
 
Members 
 
Councillor Tony Annison (Chair) Councillor Janet Farebrother (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Carole Armstrong Councillor Allan Daniels 
Councillor Daniel Horsley Councillor George Kemp 
Councillor Antony McGuckin Councillor Paul Scott 
Councillor Andrew Semple Councillor Alan Smith 
Councillor Alan Tyson  
 
Apologies for absence were received from  Councillor Nicky Cockburn, Councillor 
Elaine Lynch and Councillor Ron Munby MBE 
 
Staff Present 
 
D Copeland, L Jardine, S Long, J Morgan and L Tomlinson 
 
Also Present 
 
R Swales (Noise Consultant), P Barnard (CCC Highways) 
 
179. Declaration of Interests  

 
None declared 
 

180. Questions  
 
None received 
 

181. Development Panel - FUL/2019/0251 - Langrigg Hall, Wigton - 
Retrospective application for change of use of farm buildings to house 1x 
CHP and 1x RHI unit and erection of associated chimneys (increase in 
height of 2no chimneys)  Heat 2x properties not in association with the 
farm and heat used to dry paper for animal bedding (approx 10% 
removed)  
 
Representations 
 
Richard Davison and Rae McGrath spoke against the application 
 
A letter of objection was read out on behalf of Councillor Mike Johnson. 
 
The agent, Rachel Lightfoot spoke in support of the application.  
 
Application 
 
The report recommended to grant permission subject to conditions. 
 
The Senior Planning Officer advised members that the application was brought 
before members at the panel on the 06 July 2021. At this time the application 

Page 39



was deferred by members to enable planning officers to liaise with Cumbria 
County Council Highways to explore a number of options in relation to a 
Transport management Plan that could respond to members’ concerns about 
highway impact (resulting from the comings and goings of HGVs associated 
with the proposal along the Langrigg Lanes). 
 
The Senior Planning Officer then went through the main issues as detailed in 
the report. 
 
Principle of Development  
 
Policy S19 of the Local Plan (Part 1) seeks to promote and encourage the 
development of renewable and low carbon energy resources given the 
significant wider environmental, community and economic benefits. The 
proposal accords with these objectives. 
 
Design/Visual Impact 
 
Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report. 
 
Amenity 
 
The applicant has proposed several mitigation measures that will address the 
ongoing noise issues experienced from the boilers. These include wood 
chipping being undertaken off-site and the CHP plant only operating between 
day-time hours. With regards to air quality the applicant has been able to 
demonstrate that the proposal is acceptable in accordance with policies S2, S4 
and S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 2014. The proposal is acceptable but 
only with conditions in place to mitigate the impacts of the development to an 
acceptable level. 
 
Heritage Impact 
 
The flues will be viewed in the context of the farm buildings with the existing 
planting and that approved under an earlier application on the site offering a 
degree of screening from the Listed Building. It is considered that the 
significantly less than substantial harm to the setting of the listed building would 
be outweighed by the public benefits of the low carbon heat and power 
produced. In terms of impact on the heritage asset, officers consider the 
proposal to be acceptable and in accordance with Policy S27 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan Part 1 2014. 
 
Highway Issues 
 
It is considered the proposal will be unlikely to have a material effect on 
highway conditions. 
  
Members were also shown plans and images of the site including the location 
within the Hamlet of Langrigg. 
 

Page 40



Members asked questions of the speakers in relation to environmental issues, 
timber delivery, paper bailing, traffic, fuel types, and community engagement. 
 
Members also asked questions of officers in relation to smoke, paper, noise, 
working hours, conditions, and traffic management. 
 
Debate ensued in relation to several topics including traffic, paper waste, 
condition enforcement and power generation. 
 
Councillor Farebrother moved the motion to grant permission subject to 
conditions as set out in the officer’s report, but with an amendment to condition 
12, stating that the sale of dried paper is capped at 10%. 
 
The motion was seconded by Councillor Scott. 
 
Councillor McGuckin then moved an amendment to the motion to add an 
amendment to condition 12, which restricts the time of vehicle movements. 
 
The amended motion was seconded by Councillor Farebrother 
 
Councillor Scott and Councillor Farebrother as proposer and seconder of the 
original motion were agreeable to the amendment from Councillor McGuckin. 
 
A vote was taken on the amended motion, 4 voted in favour, 7 voted against 
and 0 abstentions. 
 
The motion was lost. 
 
Councillor Tyson then moved the motion to refuse the application as insufficient 
evidence has been submitted to demonstrate that the imported fuel and waste 
products would not adversely impact the residential in the vicinity, in contrary to 
S1, S2, S19 and S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1, 2014.  
 
The motion to refuse was seconded by Councillor Daniels. 
 
Debate ensued in relation to the motion to refuse, some Councillors stating 
that the reasons for refusal were ‘too specific’ and about paper only, but others 
commented that the application constitutes to a ‘power plant’. 
 
A vote was taken on the motion, 3 voted in favour, 8 voted against and 0 
abstentions. 
 
The motion was lost. 
 
Councillor Farebrother then moved the motion to approve the application as 
per the officers recommendation with the amendments to condition 12 to  
restrict vehicle movements and to, ensure that the sale of dried paper is  
capped at 10%. With an additional condition requesting that a scheme to  
outline the details and monitoring of the imported waste bedding material shall  
be submitted to and approved by the Council. 
 
The motion was seconded by Councillor McGuckin 

Page 41



 
A vote was taken on the motion, 7 voted in favour, 2 against and 2 abstentions. 
 
The motion was carried. 
 
Resolution 
 
Grant permission, subject to conditions as per officer’s recommendations, with  
amendments to condition 12, to ensure the sale of dried paper is capped to 
10% and to restrict vehicle movements. With an additional condition 
requesting that a scheme to outline the details and monitoring of the imported 
waste bedding material shall be submitted to and approved by the Council. 

 

Conditions 

 

In Accordance: 

 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in 

accordance with the following plans  

D.02 Site Plan  

D.03 Location plan  

D.01c Floor Plans & Elevations received 22.11.2019  

Planning & Historic Statement received 22.07.2021  

Noise Impact Assessment Revision L received 02.06.2021  

Addendum to Noise Impact Assessment received 02.06.2021  

Letter received 26.02.2020  

On Site Processes Rev A received 22.07.2021  

Location Plan – storage 18.02.2020  

Ref 18-4275 Air Quality Assessment  

Boiler Data Sheet received 09.03.2020  

Boiler Reference 18.02.2020  

Commissioning Certificates  

D1 Stack Height Assessment  

Biomass Boiler Information  

Emissions Certificates  

Email received 09/03/2020  

 
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in 
complete accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-
material alterations to the scheme are properly considered and 
specifically to ensure there are not unacceptable impacts on residential 
amenity to accord with the provisions of the development plan and 
specifically policies S2 and S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014. 
 

2. The boilers shall not operate outside of the times 07:00hrs to 
18:00hrs. 
 
Reason: In the interests of preserving the amenity of nearby residents, in 
compliance with National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2, S4 
and S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 2014. 
 

Page 42



3. Neither boiler approved shall be used without the increase in the 
height of the associated flue as hereby approved and as detailed 
within the plans referred to in condition 1. The said flues shall be 
retained at this height whilst the boiler to which they serve is in use. 
 
Reason: In the interests of preserving the amenity of nearby residents, in 
compliance with National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2, S4 
and S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 2014. 
 

4. When the CHP Unit and the Biomass units are in operation the 
noise level emitted at the boundary of the nearest residential 
properties shall not exceed 5dB above background noise levels 
between the hours of 07.00hrs to 18.00hrs.  
 
Reason: In the interests of preserving the amenity of nearby residents, in 
compliance with National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2, S4 
and S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 2014.  
 

5. No wood chipping shall be carried out at any time within the farm 
(defined as the land within the blue line on the plan attached to this 
decision notice).  
 
Reason: In the interests of preserving the amenity (noise emissions) of 
nearby residents, in compliance with National Planning Policy 
Framework and Policy S2, S4 and S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 
1), 2014. 
 

6. All operations associated with the use hereby approved, including 
the drying of the woodchip, shall be undertaken in compliance with 
the submitted On Site Processes Rev A received 22 July 2021. 
 
Reason: In the interests of preserving the amenity of nearby residents, in 
compliance with National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2, S4 
and S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 2014. 
 

7. The biomass boiler shall be operated using wood chip only. 
 
Reason: Emissions from a biomass boiler depend greatly on the type 
and quality of the fuel used. Reasonable guarantees are therefore 
needed that the fuel is compatible with the boiler, is of a high quality and 
that quality will be assured for a reasonable period of time, in the 
interests of preserving the amenity of nearby residents, in compliance 
with National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2, S4 
and S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 2014. 
 

8. The moisture content of the wood chip shall be 30% or less and 
shall be tested on site using a moisture meter as well as monthly 
testing being undertaken of wood chip samples.  
 
Reason: Emissions from a biomass boiler depend greatly on the type 
and quality of the fuel used. Reasonable guarantees are therefore 
needed that the fuel is compatible with the boiler, is of a high quality and 

Page 43



that quality will be assured for a reasonable period of time, in the 
interests of preserving the amenity of nearby residents, in compliance 
with National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2, S4 and S32 of 
the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 2014. 
 

9. Details of the monthly fuel sampling and fuel sampling process 
should be recorded at the site and made available at all times upon 
request of Allerdale Borough Council.  
 
Reason: Emissions from a biomass boiler depend greatly on the type 
and quality of the fuel used. Reasonable guarantees are therefore 
needed that the fuel is compatible with the boiler, is of a high quality and 
that quality will be assured for a reasonable period of time in compliance 
with National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2, S4 and S32 of 
the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 2014.  
 

10. All doors shall remain closed on the building which contains all 
plant and machinery associated with the CHP unit at all times when 
in operation.  
 
Reason: In the interests of preserving the amenity of nearby residents, in 
compliance with National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2, S4 
and S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 2014. 11 Any vehicles 
delivering wood chip to the site shall be covered at all times. Reason: In 
the interest of highway safety and to accord with policy S22 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 2014. 
 

11. Any vehicles delivering wood chip to the site shall be covered at all 
times.  
 
Reason: In the interest of highway safety and to accord with policy S22 
of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 2014.  
 

12. Within 1 month of approval a Traffic Management Plan shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval. The TMP 
shall include details of:  
Vehicle routing;  
Vehicle Numbers (capped at 66 Per Month and never more than 4 on 
any day);  
The scheduling and timing of movements  
Method of monitoring vehicle movements to and from the 
application site (including the sale of paper capped at 10% of 
bedding dried at the site)  
Development should be carried out in strict accordance with the 
approved Traffic Management Plan.  
 
Reason: In the interest of highway safety and residential amenity in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S22 
and S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 
 

13. Within 1 month of the date of this consent, a scheme outlining the 
details and monitoring of the imported waste bedding materials 

Page 44



shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. The importing operations of the waste shall be 
implemented in accordance with the approved scheme.  
 
Reason: To safeguard the amenity of nearby residential properties in 
compliance with Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted 
July 2014. 

 
182. Development Panel - FUL/2020/0022 - Pow Motey Farm Adjacent to 

Langrigg Hall, Langrigg Wigton - Change of use of building for storage of 
woodchip fuel for boilers associated with farm.  
 
Application 
 
The report recommended to grant permission subject to conditions. 
 
The Senior Planning Officer then went through the main issues as detailed in 
the report. 
 
Principle of Development  
 
The use of the building supports renewable methods, with no impact on the 
wider community. 
 
This application relates to the same site as application FUL/2019/0251 which is 
also on the agenda for this meeting of the Development Panel. 
 
Members were also shown plans and images of the site including the location 
within the Hamlet of Langrigg. 
  
Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report. 
 
Councillor Farebrother moved the motion to grant permission subject to the 
condition. 
 
The motion was seconded by Councillor Armstrong. 
 
A vote was taken on the motion, 8 voted in favour, 0 against and 3 abstentions. 
 
Resolution 
 
Permission granted subject to condition. 
 
Condition 
 
In Accordance:  
 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in 
accordance with the following plans:  
Site Plan  
Block Plan  

Page 45



 
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in 
complete accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-
material alterations to the scheme are properly considered. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

The meeting closed at 4.05 pm 
 

Page 46



Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Planning Application OUT/2021/0017 
 

Development Panel Report 

 
Reference Number: OUT/2021/0017 

Valid Date: 22/06/2021 

Location: Part Field 7800, Newton Arlosh, Wigton 

Applicant: K Foster 

Proposal: Re-submission of application OUT/2021/0009 for 
outline proposal for residential development for up to 
3 dwellings including access 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 Refuse   

1. Summary 

Issue Conclusion 

Principle of Development Newton Arlosh is a village within the fourth 
tier, defined a ‘Limited Growth Village’ of 
the settlement hierarchy as detailed in 
Policy S3 which can accommodate small-
scale developments. The site is within the 
settlement limit of Newton Arlosh as 
defined by the recently adopted Part 2 
Allerdale Local Plan. 

Amenity The proposal, is adjacent to an existing 
agricultural building and, although 
separated by a line of trees/hedgerow, is 
approximately sited only 5 metres from the 
agricultural building. Given this distance, it 
is the opinion of officers that the proposed 
dwellings would be potentially impacted 
upon by the use of the agricultural building 
(which is outside of the applicants control) 
in terms of noise and odour. Officers 
therefore consider that this present 
proposal does not provide an acceptable 
standard of amenity 

 

 

 

Page 47

Agenda Item 5



2. Introduction 
 

2.1. The application has been called in by Councillor Tony Markley. 
 

2.2. The application seeks outline planning permission for residential development for 
up to 3 dwellings including access (resubmission of OUT/2021/0009). 
 

3. Proposal 
 

3.1. The Plans for consideration are:- 
 
Dwg No 21.06. OP loc – Location Plan 
Dwg No 21.06.sk.block – Block Plan 
Dwg No 21.06 SK.1 – Schematic Proposal  
Odour Assessment dated Febraury 2017 
Hesketh Ecology report – 22.04.2021 
Email from agent received 12.08.2021 

 
4. Site 

 
4.1. The application site lies within the village of Newton Arlosh and currently forms 

part of a larger agricultural field. 
 

4.2. The site lies adjacent to a row of detached houses that have gained gradual 
planning approvals. These approvals are for two storey detached dwellings with 
the plot depth approximately 31m and orientated to face the public highway which 
fronts the sites. Directly to the southwest of the site, planning permission has 
been granted for a row of 3 terraced houses which have recently been completed 
(ref. 2/2018/0156). 

 
4.3. The site is bounded to the northeast by an agricultural field which is separated 

from a portal frame building on the adjacent land by an existing hedgerow, 
agricultural land to the southeast and residential properties to the southwest and 
northwest. 

5. Relevant Site History 
 

5.1. 2/2012/0876 – Outline application for residential development – Granted with 
conditions – 09.01.2013 
 

5.2. 2/2016/0747 – Outline application for residential development including access – 
Refused – 22.03.2017. 

 
5.3. 2/2018/0156 – Outline application for residential development to include access 

and layout – Granted with conditions – 16.07.2018. This application is directly 
adjacent to the current proposed development to the southwest and overcame 
the odour concerns of the 2016 refusal due to a separation distance of 
approximately 20m between the proposed dwellings and the adjacent agricultural 
building resulting in an acceptable standard of amenity to future occupiers of the 
dwellings.  

Page 48



 
5.4. RMA/2019/0001 -  Reserved Matters application following approval 2/2018/0156 

for appearance, landscaping, layout and scale – Approved with conditions – 
25.03.2019.   
 

5.5.  OUT/2021/0009 - Outline proposal for residential development for up to 3 
dwellings including access – refused – 17.05.2021; The proposed residential 
development is considered in close proximity to buildings with a potential source 
of odour beyond the applicants' control. The Local Planning Authority considers 
the submitted details fail to demonstrate that the occupiers of the proposed 
development would not suffer a poor standard of residential amenity and living 
conditions contrary to Policy S2, S4 and S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 
Adopted July 2014 and the National Planning Policy Framework, (paragraphs, 9, 
12 and 17).  

 
 
6. Representations 

 
6.1. Parish Council - The Council has not changed its view on this matter, and has 

no objections to the proposal 
 

6.2. Cumbria Highways & LLFA - Cumbria County Council as the Local Highway 
Authority (LHA) and Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) has reviewed the above 
planning reference and our findings are detailed below. I can confirm that the 
response made to the previous application OUT/2021/0009 should still apply. I 
attached our previous response hereto; 
 
Given the design and location of the dwellings the Highway Authority have no 
objections to the proposal however we recommend the conditions applied to 
application reference: 2/2018/0156 are applied equally to this present application. 
The conditions are as follows: 
 
1) The access drive shall be surfaced in bituminous or cement bound materials, 
or otherwise bound and shall be constructed and completed before the 
development is brought into use. This surfacing shall extend for a distance of at 
least 5.0 metres inside the site, as measured from the carriageway edge of the 
adjacent highway. 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety. To support Local Transport Plan 
Policies: LD5, LD7, LD8 
 
2)The development shall not commence until visibility splays providing clear 
visibility of 60 metres measured 2.4 metres down the centre of the access road 
and the nearside channel line of the major road have been provided at the 
junction of the access road with the county highway. Notwithstanding the 
provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
(England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that 
Order) relating to permitted development, no structure, vehicle or object of any 
kind shall be erected, parked or placed and no trees, bushes or other plants shall 
be planted or be permitted to grow within the visibility splay which obstruct the 
visibility splays. The visibility splays shall be constructed before general 

Page 49



development of the site commences so that construction traffic is safeguarded. 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety. To support Local Transport Plan 
Policies: LD7, LD8 
 
3) Details of all measures to be taken by the applicant/developer to prevent 
surface water discharging onto or off the highway shall be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority for approval prior to development being commenced. Any 
approved works shall be implemented prior to the development being completed 
and shall be maintained operational thereafter. 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and environmental management. 
To support Local Transport Plan Policies: LD7, LD8 
 
4) Full details of the surface water drainage system shall be submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority for approval prior to development being commenced. 
Any approved works shall be implemented prior to the development being 
completed and shall be maintained operational thereafter. 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and environmental management. 
To support Local Transport Plan Policies: LD7, LD8 
 
5)The access and parking/turning requirements shall be substantially met before 
any building work commences on site so that constructional traffic can park and 
turn clear of the highway. 
Reason: The carrying out of this development without the provision of these 
facilities during the construction work is likely to lead to inconvenience and 
danger to road users. To support Local Transport Policies: LD8 
 
Any works within the Highway must be agreed with the Highway Authority. 
No works and/or any person performing works on any part of the Highway, 
including Verges, will be permitted, until in receipt of an appropriate permit 
allowing such works. Enquires should be made to Cumbria County Councils 
Streetwork’s team. 
 
LLFA response: 
The LLFA do not have any records of flooding on this site and the Environment 
Agency (EA) surface water maps do not indicate that the site is in an area of risk. 

 
 
6.3. ABC Environmental Health - I have re-considered the proposed development in 

view of previous comments made by the Environmental Health department and 
the odour assessment which had been submitted with the current application. 

 
The odour assessment submitted has not addressed the issue of external 
amenity, I would raise concerns that the developer is unable to protect the 
amenity of future occupants as they have no control or influence on the 
agricultural style building which is 1.5m away from the application site boundary. 
 
There is nothing to prevent this said building to be used to house animals or 
livestock in the future which would not require any permission from the planning 
authority. I would not wish to support the proposed development as the applicant 

Page 50



is not able to demonstrate how they can provided a satisfactory standard of 
amenity as there is potential for an odour nuisance to occur. 

 
6.4. Natural England – No reply to date.   
 
6.5. United Utilities – With regards to the above development proposal, United 

Utilities Water Limited (‘United Utilities’) wishes to provide the following 
comments.  
 
Drainage In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
and the National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG), the site should be drained 
on a separate system with foul water draining to the public sewer and surface 
water draining in the most sustainable way. We request the following drainage 
conditions are attached to any subsequent approval to reflect the above 
approach:  
Condition 1 – Surface water No development shall commence until a surface 
water drainage scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The drainage scheme must include: (i) An investigation 
of the hierarchy of drainage options in the National Planning Practice Guidance 
(or any subsequent amendment thereof). This investigation shall include 
evidence of an assessment of ground conditions and the potential for infiltration 
of surface water; (ii) A restricted rate of discharge of surface water agreed with 
the local planning authority (if it is agreed that infiltration is discounted by the 
investigations); and (iii)A timetable for its implementation. The approved scheme 
shall also be in accordance with the Non-Statutory Technical Standards for 
Sustainable Drainage Systems (March 2015) or any subsequent replacement 
national standards. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out only 
in accordance with the approved drainage scheme. Reason: To promote 
sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to manage the risk of 
flooding and pollution. 

 

Condition 2 – Foul water Foul and surface water shall be drained on separate 
systems. Reason: To secure proper drainage and to manage the risk of flooding 
and pollution. A non-return valve should be installed before connecting into the 
public sewer. 

 
6.6. The application has been advertised on site notice and by neighbour letter.  

 
6.7. There has been 4 representations of objection, and 2 representations of support.  

 
6.8. The representations of objections state: 
 

a. Affect on occupiers of proposed properties from existing adjacent agricultural 
building which is used to house livestock 

b. Size of houses not appropriate for affordable family homes 
c. Approval of development would advocate future development and set a 

precedent 
 

6.9. The representations of support state: 
 

Page 51



a. Affordable housing is required in the village 
b. Affordable housing would allow young families to move into the village joining 

the village community  
 
7. Environmental Impact Assessment 

7.1. The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) 
Regulations 2017 

7.2. The development does not within Schedule 1 nor 2 and, as such, is not EIA 
development. 

8. Duties 
 
8.1. The site does not contain, nor is it in close proximity to any listed buildings, nor is 

it within or affecting a conservation area or a Natura 2000 site. 
 
 
9. Development Plan Policies 
 
9.1. Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 
 

Policy S1 - Presumption in Favour of Development 
Policy S2 - Sustainable Development 
Policy S3 - Spatial Strategy and Growth 
Policy S4 - Design Principles 
Policy S5 - Development Principles 
Policy S7 - A mixed and balanced housing market 
Policy S29 - Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage 

Policy S32 - Safeguarding Amenity 

Policy S33 - Landscape 

Policy S34 - Development in the Solway Coast Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty 

Policy DM14 - Standards of Good Design 

Policy DM17 - Trees, Hedgerows and Woodland 

 
These policies can be found here:- 
 
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/local-plan-part-
1/  

 
9.2. Allerdale Local Plan (Part 2) 

 
Policy SA2 - Settlement Boundaries 

Policy SA3 - Affordable Housing 

Policy SA5 - Housing Standards 

Policy SA33 - Broadband 

Page 52

https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/local-plan-part-1/
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/local-plan-part-1/


These policies can be found here:- 
 
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/siteallocations/  
 

 
10.  Other material considerations 
 
10.1.  National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) 
 
10.2 Allerdale Council Plan 2019-2023 

10.2.1 Tackling inequality  

•  Helping to create more affordable housing where it is needed most across 
the borough, for example through Community Land Trusts or using our own 
assets or land, and bringing empty properties into affordable homes. 

10.2.2  Strengthening our economy 

•  Supporting the development of more homes where they are needed by 
looking for opportunities to develop key worker housing for the health and 
nuclear sectors; and aspirational housing where appropriate in line with our 
Local Plan. 

 
11. Policy weighting 

 
11.1. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, 

if regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be 
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 and the 
Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2) 2020 policies have primacy. 

 

12. Assessment: 
 

Principle of development 
 
12.1 Policy Newton Arlosh is a village within the fourth tier of the settlement hierarchy 

as detailed in Policy S3 which can accommodate small-scale developments. The 
site is within the settlement limit of Newton Arlosh as defined by the recently 
adopted Part 2 Allerdale Local Plan. 

12.2  The proposal is in the form of a linear development achieving an appropriate 
relationship with this part of the existing built format of Newton Arlosh. Officers do 
not consider this infill development will result in a harmful visual impact on the 
landscape, which will be seen in line with the existing dwellings to the southwest 
which has already set a precedent for development in this area 

 

Page 53

https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/siteallocations/


12.3 The benefits of the scheme provide 3 new dwellings which would contribute to 
the housing need in the borough. This provision would also be supported by the 
Framework’s objective of significantly boosting the supply of housing. 

  
Design Principles 

 
12.4 The majority of development within this settlement lies to the north of the highway 

that runs through the village of Newton Arlosh. The proposal site lies to the south. 
The development on this side of the village is sparse and linear in form. To the 
northeast of the site are modern agricultural style buildings and directly to the 
south west is a row of 3 terraced dwellings then a line of two storey detached 
houses directly fronting the highway all having a plot depth of 31m 

 
12.5 The proposal site would extend the linear form of development in this part of the 

village with the garden areas extending in line with the adjacent built/approved 
dwellings. The site layout plan submitted with the application shows the applicant 
proposes on building a terrace of 3 dwellings, orientated to face highway, with 
parking to the front and garden areas to the rear. 

12.6 A key objective of the Local Plan is to achieve high quality design for all 
development. Good design relates not only to the appearance of a development 
but to how it functions within its location and to how it contributes towards a 
sustainable community. 

12.7 In assessing the proposal, the linear form of development responds positively to 
the immediate character, history and distinctiveness of its location and integrates 
well with existing development achieving an extension to the frontage 
development. The siting of the dwellings within the plots is considered acceptable 
and will integrate well with the existing streetscene. Adequate parking is provided 
to the front and appropriate sized gardens to the rear. 

12.8 The final design of the dwellings are reserved, however officers are satisfied that 
the siting of dwellings within this location and the layout of the site is acceptable 
in compliance with Policies S2, S4, S32 and DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

 Amenity/Odour 

12.9 Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), seeks to ensure that new housing 
is located where it will not result in poor living conditions for the occupiers as a 
result of air pollution, noise, smell, dust, vibration, light or other pollution. The 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) also requires that new development 
should seek to secure a good standard of amenity for all existing and future 
occupiers of land and buildings. 

12.10 Whilst the proposal is submitted in outline, and seeks to establish the principle of 
residential development on the site, whether the proposal would provide 
satisfactory living conditions for the future occupiers is fundamental to whether or 
not the principle is acceptable. 

Page 54



12.11 The proposed site lies adjacent to a row of two storey dwellings to the southwest 
of the site. The application before us is outline, however the indicative layout of 
the site shows a terrace of 3 dwellings orientated to face the highway, which 
would result in the majority of openings located to the front and rear elevations 
and therefore the amenity of existing and future occupants could be protected 
from overlooking.   

12.12 Agricultural style buildings lie to the north east of the site. The nearest building on 
this site is approximately 1.5m from the boundary to the field and is used to 
house horses. However, the use of this building could change in the future and 
additional livestock could be housed within the building. Given the proximity of 
the proposed dwellings to the nearby equestrian buildings the impact on the 
amenity of the future occupiers from this source needs to be considered as part 
of this application. 

12.13 Environmental Health Officers raised concerns to application 2/2016/0747 on 
potential impact for the future occupiers of the proposed development in relation 
to a poor standard of residential amenity due to its proximity to the agricultural 
buildings to the northeast of the site. The extent of the red lie on this application 
extended right up to the boundary with the adjacent site, and no separation 
distance was proposed.  

12.14 A later application for 3 dwellings directly adjacent to this current proposal 
included a 20m separation distance between the agricultural buildings and the 
approved domestic dwellings. 

12.15 In considering the requirements of Local Plan policy S32 and the Framework, 
odour is a fundamental issue that is required to be addressed before planning 
permission is granted.  

12.16 In rural villages it is common for farms to be located within the village boundaries 
and therefore dwellings are often located in close proximity to these. The 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) does not state a separation distance that must be 
adhered to between residential and farm/equestrian buildings and each one is 
assessed on its own individual merits.  

12.17 The present proposal, although separated from the agricultural building by a line 
of trees/hedgerow, is approximately sited only 5 metres from the agricultural 
building. Given this distance, it is the opinion of officers that the proposed 
dwellings would be potentially impacted upon by the use of the agricultural 
building (which is outside of the applicants control) in terms of noise and odour. 
Whilst the agent has confirmed the windows facing the agricultural building could 
be non-opening, this would not protect the outdoor amenity space of the 
proposed dwellings. Officers therefore consider that this present proposal does 
not provide an acceptable standard of amenity and does not overcome the 
reasons for refusal of 2/2016/0747 & OUT/2021/0009; The proposed residential 
development is considered in close proximity to buildings with a potential source 
of odour beyond the applicants' control. The Local Planning Authority considers 
the submitted odour assessment fails to demonstrate that the occupiers of the 
proposed development would not suffer a poor standard of residential amenity 
and living conditions contrary to Policy S2, S4 and S32 of the Allerdale Local 

Page 55



Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014 and the National Planning Policy Framework, 
(paragraphs, 9, 12 and 17) and is therefore contrary to Policy S32 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan. 

 Highway Issues 

12.18 The application is for outline with means of access to be considered. The site 
layout plan shows direct access from the highway into parking to the front of the 
dwelling. Cumbria Highways have assessed the layout and confirm the 
development is acceptable in terms of layout, visibility splays and parking 
provision subject to the inclusion of conditions. 

 Drainage 

12.19 The application form indicates that foul sewage would be disposed of via the 
main sewers with surface water to an existing watercourse. The applicant has not 
submitted any further details on the proposed drainage and no details have been 
submitted that details why the applicant cannot provide soakaway on site to take 
surface water drainage, which has been accepted on recent adjacent 
development. Officers consider an acceptable form of drainage could be 
achieved on the site, however in line with United Utilities comments it is 
recommended that a condition be attached requiring a surface water drainage 
scheme, based on the hierarchy of drainage options in the National Planning 
Practice Guidance be submitted prior to development commencing. 

 Ecology 

12.20 The site lies within a Site of Wildlife Interest from geese and swans which are 
protected species under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. Given the nature 
of the siting of the dwelling within a grassed agricultural field and the close 
proximity to existing dwellings it is considered the proposal will not harm these 
protected species. The forging potential of the site is considered to be low and 
not significantly harm any priority habitat. Natural England have confirmed there 
are no risks in terms of designated nature conservation sites. 

Local Financial Considerations 
 

12.21 Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act, Local Financial 
Considerations relate to Business Rates Revenue 
 

13. Conclusions 

13.1 The development of three dwellings at the site is considered acceptable in 
principle. However, given the close proximity of the site to the adjacent 
agricultural building, it is the opinion of officers that the amenity of the dwellings 
could not be safeguarded. It is therefore recommended that this application is 
refused. 

14. RECOMMENDATION 

Refuse permission 

Page 56



Annex 1 

Reason 
 

1. The proposed residential development is considered in close proximity to 
buildings with a potential source of odour beyond the applicants' control. 
The Local Planning Authority considers the submitted details fail to 
demonstrate that the occupiers of the proposed development would not 
suffer a poor standard of residential amenity and living conditions contrary 
to Policy S2, S4 and S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 
2014 and the National Planning Policy Framework, (paragraphs, 9, 12 and 
17). 

 
 
Other:  
 
 
 
Advisory Note  

Page 57



 
 
 
 

Page 58



                                             Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Planning Application FUL/2021/0207 
 

Development Panel Report 

 
Reference Number: FUL/2021/0207 

Valid Date: 16/08/2021 

Location: Land Opposite The Willows, Lonsdale Place, Flimby, 
Maryport, Cumbria, CA15 8TP 

Applicant: Mr M Kirkbride  

Proposal: Retrospective consent for the retention of existing 
agricultural building for the housing of livestock and 
horses 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

Refuse  

1. Summary 

Issue Conclusion 

Principle of Development Policy DM6 of the Local Plan supports the 
principle of the erection of stable buildings 
in the open countryside subject to the 
siting, scale, design and external materials 
respecting and enhancing the rural 
character of the local area. 

Siting, Scale and Design The scale, siting and materials of this 
development are considered inappropriate 
for this rural location. The proposal would 
introduce an incongruous form and scale 
of development that would harmfully erode 
the rural characteristics of the area 
resulting in significant adverse impact 
bringing the development in conflict with 
Policies S4, S33 and DM6 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

Amenity Officers consider the proposed means to 
dispose of the manure is acceptable in 
principle and can be controlled via 
condition so as not to have a detrimental 
impact on the amenity of the nearby 
property. 

 

Page 59

Agenda Item 6



 

2. Introduction 
 

2.1. This site has been the subject of a number of previous planning applications and 
an Enforcement Notice is in place for the site to seek the removal of the existing 
unauthorised structures on site.  
 

2.2. A previous scheme on this site, ref 2/2018/0471, came before members in 
January 2019 for the erection of buildings for the stabling of horses and storage. 
The application was refused in accordance with officer’s recommendations on the 
following grounds: 
 
“The Local Planning Authority consider inadequate information has been 
submitted to demonstrate the need for both the number of buildings proposed 
and the scale of the development. The large scale nature of the large modern 
agricultural style building becomes the dominant feature in this rural open 
countryside location with particularly visibility from sensitive visual receptors on 
public rights of way. It neither seeks to respect or enhance the rural character of 
the area. The proposal is therefore considered to be contrary to policies S4, S33 
and DM6 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.” 
 

2.3. The members requested that action be pursued in relation to the unauthorised 
works and the Council served an Enforcement Notice.  
 

2.4. The applicant appealed both the refused planning permission and the 
enforcement notice and the appeals were dismissed and the enforcement notice 
upheld. The time for compliance with the notice has lapsed. However, an 
ecological survey by a qualified ecologist has been submitted to the Council that 
shows bats are potentially roosting in the large modern agricultural building. A 
further emergency survey was undertaken on the 26 August of this year that 
witnessed 1 Soprano Pipistrelle bat emerging from the building and recommend 
a further bat activity survey be carried out between may- August next year in 
order for a protected species mitigation licence to be obtained from natural 
England. Given that an additional survey needs to be carried, the Council has not 
pursued a prosecution against the failure to comply with the Enforcement Notice 
as this juncture.  

 
 
3. Proposal 

 
3.1. The current application seeks retrospective permission to retain the existing 

unauthorised large modern agricultural style building that is currently on the site 
for housing of sheep, cattle and horses and the retention of a steel shipping 
container. It is important for members to note that the works sought under this 
application are the same as those referenced in the Enforcement Notice. 
 

3.2. The large agricultural building as existing would be 12m x 6m with an eaves and 
a ridge height of 3.8m and 5.4m respectively. The steel container measures 

Page 60



6.06m x 2.28m, total height 2.26m. Adjacent to the proposed building is a yard 
area enclosed by 2m high concrete panels. The yard area measures 12m x 12m.  
 

3.3. The Plans for consideration are:- 
 
Pb1 Location Plan 
PB2b Block Plan (amendment received 30 September 2021) 
PB4 Proposed Elevations (amendment received 30 September 2021) 
PB5 Floor Plan (amendment received 4 October 2021) 
Photo of steel container (received 30 September 2021) 
Photo of Steel Container with measurements (received 4 October 2021) 
Land Owned and rented plan  
Design and Access Statement, Drainage Statement and Manure Statement 
(amendment received 4 October 2021) 
Landscaping Planting Schedule and Management / Maintenance (received 30 
September 2021) 
Scoping bat Survey dated 30 October 2020 
Scoping Bat Survey dated 1 September 2021 
  
The particulars are available to view via the following link:- 
https://allerdalebc.force.com/pr/s/planning-
application/a3X3X000007zLfwUAE/ful20210207  

 
 
4. Site 

 
4.1. The application site forms an irregular shaped field located in an area of open 

countryside to the east of Pennygill Road which leads north-eastwards out of the 
village of Flimby. A dwelling lies to the northwest of the field with a public right of 
way (PROW) running along the north boundary. This splits into two rights of way 
to the northeast. Flimby Great Wood (Ancient Woodland) is directly to the east 
both public rights of ways striking eastwards through it.  
 

4.2. The surrounding landscape is characterised by a patchwork of large open and 
regular shaped pasture fields, bound by mature hedgerows and set against a 
backdrop of occasional clusters and bands of native woodland. The land rises up 
from the West Cumbrian coastline to form a series of exposed ridges and valleys 
that rise gently towards the limestone fringes of the Lakeland Fells to the east. 
The result being an attractive and largely undeveloped rural landscape 
interrupted only occasionally by single or small clusters of dwellings and 
farmsteads.  

 

5. Relevant Planning History 
 

5.1. Planning permission was granted under 2/2015/0599 for a timber stables building 
that measured 9m in length x 4.4m in with a height to eaves of 3m, 3.8m to ridge 
within the application site. The building was to be located to the front of the site.  
 

Page 61

https://allerdalebc.force.com/pr/s/planning-application/a3X3X000007zLfwUAE/ful20210207
https://allerdalebc.force.com/pr/s/planning-application/a3X3X000007zLfwUAE/ful20210207


5.2. A further application 2/2018/0471 sought retrospective planning permission for 
the retention of a modern agricultural style building to be used to house horses 
and the erection of a further stable/storage building. Planning permission was 
refused and enforcement action taken to seek their removal. 
 

5.3. The applicant appealed both the refusal of the planning permission 2/2018/0471 
and the Enforcement Notice and the appeals were dismissed and the 
Enforcement Notice upheld. 
 

5.4. FUL/2020/0223 Erection of agricultural storage building for the housing of 
animals and horses. This application sought to relocate the building. This 
application was on the agenda for the panel meeting on the 6 July 2021 with a 
recommendation of refusal. However, the applicant withdrew the application prior 
to the meeting. 

 
 
6. Representations 

 
Maryport Town Council  

 
6.1. Support for the retention of the developed structure, noting that Councillor P 

Kendall has called in the application & that a site visit be requested held. 
 

ABC Environmental Health 
 

6.2. No comment to make.  
 
Public Rights Of Way Officer 
 

6.3. Public Footpath 244024 follows an alignment to the north of the side of the 
proposed development and must not be altered or obstructed before or after the 
development has been completed. If the footpath is to be temporarily obstructed 
then a formal temporary closure will be required. 
 
Natural England 
 

6.4. No comment to make on this application. 
 
CCC Minerals & Waste 
 

6.5. No objections.  
 
Other representations 

 
6.6. The application has been advertised by press advert, site notice and neighbour 

letter.  
 

6.7. No representations have been received to date.  
 
 

Page 62



7. Environmental Impact Assessment 

7.1. With regards to the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) Regulations 2017, the development does not fall within Schedule 1 
nor 2 and, as such, is not EIA development. 

 
 
8. Development Plan Policies 
 

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 
 
8.1 The following policies are considered relevant:- 
 

S1 Presumption in Favour of Development 
S2 Sustainable Development 
S3 Spatial Strategy and Growth 
S4 Design Principles 
S14 Rural Economy 
S29 Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage 
S32 Safeguarding amenity 
S33 Landscape 
S35 Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
DM6 Equestrian and agricultural buildings 
DM17 Trees, hedgerows and woodland 
 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 2) 

 
8.2 The site is within the countryside oustide the defined settlement boundaries 

(policy SA2). 
 

 
9. Other material considerations 
 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) 
 

9.1 Paragraph 218 states that the policies in this Framework are material 
considerations which should be taken into account in dealing with applications 
from the day of its publication. Paragraph 219 states that due weight should be 
given to development plan policies according to their degree of consistency with 
this Framework (the closer the policies in the plan to the policies in the 
Framework, the greater the weight that may be given). 

 
 
10. Policy weighting 

 
10.1. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, 

if regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be 
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate 

Page 63



otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 and the 
Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2) 2020 policies have primacy. 

 
10.2 The relevant development policies for this proposal are considered to have a 

high degree of consistency with the NPPF and full weight is afforded to them. For 
this proposal, at this juncture, there are no material considerations which would 
result in a decision not being made in affordance with the development plan. 

 
 

11. Assessment: 
 

Principle of development 
 
11.1. Policy DM6 supports proposals for stables/equestrian activities in the countryside 

where new development is, where possible, closely related to existing farm 
buildings or other groups of buildings. If not possible, development should be 
designed and sited to minimise impact on the landscape setting. 
 

11.2. Policies S4 and S33, seek to secure and support development of high quality 
design that will protect, conserve and where possible, enhance the landscape 
character and local distinctiveness.  
 

11.3. Therefore in considering whether the principle of a building is acceptable 
members need to consider its siting, design, scale and resultant effect on the 
character and appearance of the surrounding countryside. The setting on the 
slope adjacent to ancient woodland and sensitive receptors (unobstructed views 
from the public right of way to the north) are of particular relevance in this 
assessment. Of relevance too is that the baseline against which the proposal is 
considered is not how the site appears in the landscape today (the development 
is unauthorised) but rather what it looked like before (acknowledging that the 
Council granted permission for some development on the land).  

 
11.4 Members are advised that nowhere in policy DM6 is there a requirement for a 

need to be justified. However, given the sensitivities of countryside locations in 
visual and landscape impact terms including this one, it is reasonable when 
assessing proposals against policy DM6 to establish the need driving the 
proposal. Supporting paragraph 350 to policy DM6 recognises that equestrian 
and agricultural developments often require a countryside location. That is not in 
doubt. However, the same paragraph continues by noting that new buildings can 
individually or cumulatively have an adverse impact on the rural character and 
environmental quality of the area.  

 
11.5 An evidenced need could be a consideration that weighs in support of such a 

development when considering landscape and visual impact. This could be about 
scale and/or location e.g. a building needs to be of a certain size to 
accommodate specific machinery or a certain size of flock/herd and needs to be 
in a location close to a specific access or, say, a water supply.  

 
11.6 However if, say, a structure is being proposed with no evidenced need for its 

scale and location and, it’s in a sensitive location with harmful landscape and 

Page 64



visual impact, then one could reasonably resist it and challenge why a smaller 
structure and/or different location could not be proposed to materially lessen the 
impact. These matters and balance are relevant for members’ consideration of 
this proposal although just because a need has been evidenced for a building 
and location still does not mean it is acceptable; the landscape and visual impact 
could still be such that a refusal is justified.  

 
11.7 The applicant has provided the following information in relation the need: -  

 
a) The applicant owns 70 sheep that he lambs over 3 blocks with the building 

used for both accommodation and for lambing. The sheep lamb inside and 
previously were lambed down at the neighbouring farm. An increase in stock 
at the farm means that they can no longer accommodate the lambing of the 
applicant’s sheep.  He sells the lambs store from grass. 

b) 2 calves are purchased each year that he takes to store level then sells.  
c) 4 horses are in the building and 2 foals. The horses are owned by the 

applicant and he breeds and sells the foals. 
d) The applicant owns 0.64ha of land. 
e) A further 5.6ha of the surrounding land are rented out on an informal rent 

from the neighbouring farmer, therefore no tenancy agreement.  
f) The enclosed yard area with concrete panels allows the applicant to leave 

the door open so the animals can be indoors or outdoors, while still in a 
secure and contained environment. 

g) The livestock is sold through the farm and therefore there is no separate 
financial information. 

 
11.8 The use of the site has significantly altered from that considered and approved 

under application 2/2015/0599 from a modest stable building that could only 
accommodate 2 horses for personal use to a small holding with commercial 
breeding of the horses. The Council instructed as part of the previous application 
FUL/2021/0223 ADAS to undertake an independent peer review on the 
submitted information in relation to the need for the building. As very little of the 
information has changed this is still considered relevant for this application and 
the findings include: 
 

a) Building Size and Impact. The proposed building would represent an 
82% increase in the footprint of the original approved footprint. They 
highlight significant concerns due to this increase in size and therefore 
impact on the open countryside, especially considering that the applicant 
has not appeared to justify the increase in size compared to the proposal 
in the original application. 
 

b) Annual Rents. Whilst it is acknowledged that the main yard and 
immediate land amounting to 0.64 hectares are owned by the applicant, a 
further 5.67 hectares are rented on the basis of an annual agreement. 
ADAS highlight that there is no guarantee that this arrangement will 
continue. 
 

c) Building upon this, it is noted that various social and economic pressures 
will influence land owners and the use of their land, particularly when 

Page 65



considering the potential of new land management opportunities that have 
arisen following the UK leaving the EU. The goodwill on which this 
agreement is based may very well expire, with the tenure having the 
potential to be more complex, rather than simply relying on a gentleman’s 
agreement. 
 

d) When factoring this into this proposal it is noted that, if this annual tenancy 
was lost, the holding would be substantially reduced; the grazing capacity 
of the farm would be totally constrained and, therefore, the stocking levels 
could not be maintained. Overall, the sustainability of the holding would be 
affected and the space requirements for the animals would potentially be 
reduced down to that typical of stabling for privately owned horses. 
 

e) Grazing Livestock. The maximum capacity for a good quality grass lay, 
with adequate fertiliser and rainfall would support 10-12 ewes and lambs 
per hectare (SAC/2019/20). The grassland states would support 70 ewes 
and lambs if adequately fertilised. Horses require approximately 0.5 ha per 
animal, and therefore there would need to be some imported forage to 
maintain all of the stated livestock. 
 

f) It should be noted ADAS have not completed a site visit, but have used 
preliminary investigations using satellite imagery. In August 2020 when 
the ewes should have been rearing the later lambs, there were a few signs 
of ewes on the rented land perhaps 16-17 ewes. Given that the area of 
grassland would be at its maximum capacity, ADAS would like to be 
informed where the seventy ewes, perhaps similar numbers of lambs, and 
four horses are grazing during the summer. It would be highly unusual to 
remove grazing livestock during these summer periods when grass is 
exhibiting maximum growth. 
 

g) Justification for the Buildings. ADAS would note that it is hard to justify 
this building in a business capacity. Whilst strictly not mandatory, no 
financial figures supplied to assess whether the building justifies the cost. 
On average, 70 ewes would produce a gross margin (before overheads) 
of £3,780 (£54/ewe av. Performance J.Nix 2021). There is no indication of 
flock performance from the applicant, but 18 geld ewes (25%) is five times 
higher than the national average (5%). Similarly rearing two calves would 
give a gross margin of approximately £110 in total. 
 

h) It is acknowledged that the Local Planning Policy allows for and supports 
the expansion and development of rural businesses, but ADAS would be 
of the opinion that, from the information presented, this is not a business, 
and the livestock are marketed through “the farm” which is presumably 
linked in some way to the applicant.  

 
11.9 The ADAS report concludes that this appears to be a hobby for the applicant, 

with no security of tenure, a poorly performing sheep flock and no financial or 
physical records to support the application for this larger building. As a direct 
result of this, ADAS would be of the opinion that the building is not justified, and 

Page 66



that this proposal does not constitute a viable or sustainable rural business 
development in the open countryside. 
 

11.10 A site visit carried out by officers on the 14 June 2021 and 3 September noted 
that there were no sheep or lambs grazing on the field. The grass was also over 
grown which lead officers to believe there has been no recent livestock grazing 
on the adjacent fields. This would question whether the stated livestock levels 
provided by the applicant is true and further questions the need for a building of 
this size.  
 

 Landscape and Visual Impact  
  
11.11 Policies S4 and S33 are particularly relevant in addition to DM6. The site lies 

within Sub type 5a Ridges and Valleys as designated in the Cumbria Landscape 
Character Guidance. Key characteristics of this area are: -  
 
a) A series of ridges and valleys that rises gently toward the limestone fringes 

of the Lakeland Fells.  
b)  Well managed regular shaped medium to large pasture fields.  
c)   Hedge bound pasture fields dominate, interspersed with native woodland, 
tree clumps and plantations.  
d)  Scattered farms and linear villages found along ridges.  

  e) Large scale structures generally scarce. 
 

11.12 The site, before development, consisted of a rectangular undeveloped pasture 
field bound by post and wire fencing and set against a woodland backdrop. It is 
clear that the pre-developed site conditions made a positive contribution to the 
attractive rural character of the surrounding area, this contribution being clearly 
visible from the Public Right of Way which runs along the length of the northern 
boundary of the site. The enjoyment of users of the public right of way to the 
northwest, north and then northeast is sensitive to development on the site 
adjacent to its route. This is a public right of way from a populated area (Flimby) 
into the countryside and, specifically, into ancient woodland. The walks along the 
public rights of way in the woodland and the approach to it from the single public 
right of way was, prior to the unauthorised development, a high value sequence 
of visual experiences (unobstructed views to and from within the woodland) 
across undeveloped countryside. 

  
11.14 Therefore impact needs to be seen in the context that the landscape is one of 

high sensitivity (ancient woodland and open slopes to it) and sensitive receptors 
(the public rights of way). 
 

11.15 The buildings are to be enclosed by concrete panels to a height of 2m. These are 
not characteristic of the prevailing landscape character and, given the height 
which would be above the proposed hedging (hawthorn and Blackthorn mix 
hedgerow), would be incongruous, significant intrusions into the landscape and 
result in a high degree of harm. The adverse visual impact from the public right of 
way receptors would be high.  

 

Page 67



11.16 Whilst stable buildings and equestrian facilities are not uncommon features within 
a rural context, officers consider the proposal is poorly sited within an open 
countryside setting, away from any other groupings of buildings, and thereby 
resulting in a highly visible and stark feature that is at odds with the surrounding 
landscape character. The massing and harsh concrete panelling compound the 
impact of the siting. The combination results in a high level of landscape harm 
and visual impact. 

 
11.17 In considering the proposals members should also be mindful of the appeal 

decision under application 2/2018/0471 which is a material consideration when 
determining this application. The proposal under consideration at the time was 
for a cluster of three stable buildings they were to be enclosed by a 2 metre high 
concrete panelling. This current application under consideration still retains the 
large agricultural building, a steel shipping container and 2m concrete panel 
enclosures and therefore is offered considerably weight in the consideration of 
this application.  

 
11.18 The Planning Inspector considered 
 

“The proposal would introduce an incongruous form and scale of development 
that would site uncomfortably on the hillside and in doing so would harmfully 
erode the rural characteristics of the area. Whilst stable buildings and equestrian 
facilities are not uncommon features within a rural context, I find the proposal to 
comprise of disproportionate sized buildings that are poorly sited within an open 
countryside setting, away from any other grouping of buildings, and thereby 
resulting in a highly visible and stark feature that is at odds with the surrounding 
landscape character. In this respect, it would not relate well to its surrounding.  

 
I find the large building to the rear of the site to be particularly discordant scale 
and, along with the harsh concrete panelling and areas of hardstanding, 
amounting to a visually intrusive and overly dominant form of development that is 
harmful to the character and appearance of the surrounding countryside. Thus, 
the proposal will not respect or enhance the rural character of the local area or its 
landscape setting”. 

 
11.19 There is no evidence for the scale of the buildings proposed or its siting which 

could be weighed against this impact. The balance is, therefore, in officers’ 
minds, firmly tilted to resisting the proposal due to its conflict with policies S4, 
S33 and DM6 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

 
Amenity Issues 
 

11.20 The applicant is proposing, in line with the 2015 application, that manure/waste 
will be stored on a trailer parked at the side of the building and once this is full 
taken away by the farm to be stored in their midden. Whilst officers do not 
oppose the manner of storage and removal from the site it is considered that the 
position of the storage needs to be agreed and that it should be removed on a 
more regular basis. This can be controlled via condition.  

 
 

Page 68



Access 
 

11.21 The existing access to the field from Pennygill Road along the Bridleway will be 
utilised. The applicant has land either to the front of the gate or within the field to 
provide space for parking vehicles. The Highways Authority have previously 
considered the proposal and providing the stables are for personal use only and 
not commercial they raised no objection to the proposal 

 
Ecology 

 
11.22 Policies S2 and S35 seeks to promote sustainable development whilst protecting 

and enhancing biodiversity within the plan area. 
 
11.23 The applicant has submitted a Scoping Bat Survey that was undertaken on 30 

October 2020 that identified there was evidence of bats found at the site and as a 
consequence they considered an emergence survey and a full habitat 
assessment of the building and its surrounding is warranted. These surveys 
should be undertaken in the period May – August. 

 
11.24 A further Scoping Bat Survey has been submitted that includes the details of the 

emergence survey carried out on the 26 August 2021. This found that there was 
evidence of bats found at the site with 1 Soprano Pipistrelle bat emerged through 
the open door. The building has an enhanced ecological value as the building is 
supported by a bat roost. The report recommended that a further bat activity 
survey is required to be undertaken between May and August if the building is to 
be lost. 

 
11.25 The loss of a bat roost needs to be considered appropriately and in line with 

Natural England guidance. However, in considering the application given the 
extended woodland to the rear it is considered that appropriate mitigation 
measures could be put in place to provide alternative roosting facilities for the 
single bat identified.  
 
Local Financial Considerations 
 

11.26 Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal has 
no local financial considerations. 

 
 
12. Conclusions 

12.1. The principle of a stable on this site is supported by Policy DM6 of the Local Plan 
(Part 1), with officers previously considering this to be appropriate under 
application 2/2015/0599.  

12.2. Whilst stable buildings and equestrian facilities are not uncommon features within 
a rural context, officers consider the proposal is poorly sited within an open 
countryside setting, away from any other groupings of buildings, and thereby 
resulting in a highly visible and stark feature that is at odds with the surrounding 
landscape character. The massing and harsh concrete panelling compound the 

Page 69



impact of the siting. The combination results in a high level of landscape harm 
and visual impact. There is no evidence for the scale of the building proposed or 
its siting which could be weighed against this impact. The balance is, therefore, 
in officers’ minds, firmly tilted to resisting the proposal due to its conflict with 
policies S4, S33 and DM6 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 
2014. 

12.3. The identified bat roost within the unauthorised building would not overcome the 
harm identified with regards to the poorly sited unauthorised building within the 
open countryside setting and the landscape impacts.  

12.4 There is accordance with other development plan policies, for example S32 in 
relation to residential amenity (with suitable conditions applied). However, the 
degree of conflict with policies S4, S33 and DM6 is such that, on balance, the 
proposal should be refused.  

 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

REFUSE PERMISION AND PURSUE LEGAL PROCEEDINGS UNDER THE 
EXISTING ENFORCEMENT NOTICE (SUBJECT TO COMPLIANCE WITH 
THE RESESPECTIVE LICENCE REQUIREMENTS RELATING TO THE BATS  
AT THE SITE IN LINE WITH NATURAL ENGLAND GUIDANCE) 

 
1. This open countryside setting to the ancient woodland is a landscape sensitive to 

change. There are also sensitive visual receptors in the form of the public rights 
of way which provide views of this landscape and the site. The modern building 
by reasons of its scale, siting and external materials and finish will become the 
dominant, incongruous feature in this rural open countryside location with 
particularly visibility from the public rights of way. It neither seeks to respect nor 
enhances the rural character of the area and there is a significant and overriding 
harm to the landscape and a high degree of adverse visual impact. The proposal 
is therefore considered to be contrary to Policy S4, S14, S33 and DM6 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

Page 70



 
 
 

. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 72



Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Planning Application FUL/2020/0122 
 

Development Panel Report 

 
Reference Number: FUL/2020/0122 

Valid Date: 30/06/2020 

Location: Overgate 
Mealsgate 
Wigton 

Applicant: Executors of Late J M Ferguson 
C/O Davidson & Robertson 

Proposal: Creation of new replacement access and track, 
closing of existing access with boulders 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

Approve 

1. Summary 

Issue Conclusion 

Principle of Development Officers consider the proposed new 
access to the A595 will result in a 
significant improvement to the 
substandard existing access. Whilst it is 
noted that the required visibility of over 
215m can be achieved to the right 
(northeast), the visibility to the left 
(southwest) is only 197m. This only falls 
18m below the national requirements. 
Given the significant improvement from 
existing officers consider the proposed 
access to be acceptable.  

Landscape / Ecological Impact It is considered that the proposed access 
road will assimilate into the existing 
landscape of the area. The translocation of 
the original hedge and the replanting of 
additional hedgerow will enhance the 
ecological value of the area.  

Heritage Impacts The property is a Grade II Listed 
farmhouse. It is considered that the 
proposal will not impact on the setting of 
the listed building.  

Page 73

Agenda Item 7



 
2. Proposal 

 
2.1. The application seeks consent for the creation of a new vehicular access to serve 

the property known as Overgate.  
 

2.2. The Plans for consideration are:- 
 
5566 11 Location Plan (received 7 October 2021) 
5566 10 Rev A Proposed New Access Road (received 7 October 2021) 
Additional Supporting Statement – Proposed Access Improvements (received 4 
October 2021) 
Hedgerow Survey (received 27 September 2021) 
Email 11 October 2021 amending description 
Design and Access Statement (received 11 October 2021) 
 
The particulars are available to view via the following link:- 
https://allerdalebc.force.com/pr/s/planning-
application/a3X3X000004DF0nUAG/ful20200122  

 
 
3. Site 

 
3.1. Over gate is a grade II Listed Building, which is currently served off a single 

existing vehicular access from the A595, which leads into a court yard with the 
farmhouse to the right of the access and stone listed curtilage buildings to the 
rear with modern farm buildings beyond this.  
 

3.2. The entrance is framed by a low stone wall with hedging above that extends 
around the frontage and along the highway. A small woodland lies to the 
northeast of the access and farmhouse. The visibility at the existing access is 
poor and substandard.  

 

4. Relevant Planning History 
 

4.1. FUL/2021/0179 Rear Single storey extension and alterations to farmhouse, 
demolition of barns and erection of a timber boundary fence – Pending. 
 

4.2. LBC/2021/0024 Listed Building Consent for a rear single storey extension, 
internal and external alterations to farmhouse, demolition of barns and erection of 
boundary fencing – Pending. 
 

4.3. The new owners of the property and the applicant for the two applications listed 
above has carried out some retrospective works that form part of these 
applications. This included the boundary fence that has been erected behind the 
hedge. Officers are currently investigating the matter and enforcement action can 
be taken if considered appropriate.  

 
 

Page 74

https://allerdalebc.force.com/pr/s/planning-application/a3X3X000004DF0nUAG/ful20200122
https://allerdalebc.force.com/pr/s/planning-application/a3X3X000004DF0nUAG/ful20200122


 
5. Representations 

 
Parish Council 

 
5.1. No objections 

 
Environmental Health 

 
5.2. No objections and no comments to make. 

 
Cumbria Highway / LLFA 

 
5.3. As stated in our previous response, the proposal will be an improvement on the 

current substandard access, from the information provided for review it does not 
meet current highway standards for visibility and cannot, therefore, be accepted 
without justification for the relaxation in standards.  
 

5.4. Our previous response therefore still apply. If you are however minded to 
approve the application then I recommend that conditions are attached. The 
conditions relate to visibility splays and the construction and drainage of the 
access area bounded by the carriageway edge.  
 
Fire Officer 

 
5.5. No reply to date. 

 
Minerals & Waste CCC 
 

5.6. Cumbria County Council as minerals planning authority does not object to this 
application. 
 
United Utilities 
 

5.7. We object to the planning application on the grounds that the protection given to 
our plant may be diminished by the works you intend to carryout. 
 
Northern Gas Networks 
 

5.8. Withdraw their objection. 
 

5.9. The application has been advertised by press advert, site notice and neighbour 
letter. No representations have been received to date.  

 
6. Environmental Impact Assessment 

6.1. The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) 
Regulations 2017 

Page 75



6.2. The development does not within Schedule 1 nor 2 and, as such, is not EIA 
development. 

 
7. Duties 

 
7.1. For LB setting:  
 

Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
requires that the Local Planning Authority shall have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving the listed building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses.   

 
 

8. Development Plan Policies 
 
8.1. Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 

 
Policy S1 Presumption in Favour of Development 
Policy S2 Sustainable Development 
Policy S3 Spatial Strategy and Growth 
Policy S4 Design Principles 
Policy S22 Transport Principles 
Policy S27 Heritage Assets 
Policy S32 Safeguarding Amenity 
Policy S33 Landscape 
Policy DM14 Standards of Good Design 
Policy DM15 Extensions and Alterations to Existing Buildings and Properties 
Policy DM17 Trees, Hedges and Woodland 
 

8.2. Allerdale Local Plan (Part 2) 
 

 
9. Other material considerations 
 
9.1. National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) 

 
 
10. Policy weighting 

 
10.1. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, 

if regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be 
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 and the 
Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2) 2020 policies have primacy. 

 
 
 
 

Page 76



11. Assessment: 
 

Principle of development 
 
11.1. The main farmhouse is a Grade II Listed Building that has direct access from the 

A595 to a court yard to the side of the farmhouse. The application details that 
the current access is close to a bend in the road making visibility very limited 
and well below the national standard when entering/exiting the site. The current 
visibility is to the left 35m to the nearside kerb and is estimated to be 56m to the 
central double white line to the left (southwest) and 97m to the right (northeast). 
 

11.2. The speed of the road is 60mph and therefore the national required visibility 
splays in both directions should be 215 metres in each direction.  

 
11.3. Policy S4 seeks development function well by ensuring suitable standards of 

access can be achieved and maintained. Paragraph 111 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework details that developments should only be prevented 
or refused on highways ground if there would be an unacceptable impact on 
highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would 
be serve. 
 

11.4. When leaving the site it is extremely dangerous to turn to the right when exiting 
and what tends to happen is people turn left then carryout a U-turn at the next 
junction up the road rather than tuning right. This currently is the only access to 
the farmhouse and associated farm buildings. The recent resale of the property 
has seen an intensification of the use of the site and brought the farm building 
back into use which in turn will see farm vehicles using the access. This in turn 
has resulted in in an intensification of the substandard access.  
 

11.5. The applicant seeks to create a new access northeast of the site where it is 
argued visibility is better. This access would extend along a field boundary 
before passing across a field and then into the site courtyard area. It is proposed 
that this access would be used by all vehicles and the existing access would be 
permanently closed. 

 
11.6. Cumbria Highways initial reply stated “Whilst the proposed will be an 

improvement on the current substandard access, from the information provided 
for review it does not meet current highway standards for visibility and cannot, 
therefore be accepted without justification for the relaxation in standards”. 

 
11.7. The applicant has now submitted a further supporting statement which included 

further information and justification following discussions with CCC Highways. 
 

11.8. In the vicinity of the farm, the A595 has a carriageway width of 7.5m with a verge 
approx. 2.4m wide. The road is subject to the national speed limit (60mph) and 
there is a double white line system in place around the bend which prohibits 
overtaking in both directions. Traffic is free flowing with little queuing or delays 

 
 
 

Page 77



 
11.9. The application proposes an alternative access, some 215m northwest, in order 

to improve visibility and amenity. The new access takes all traffic through a field 
then splits residential and agricultural traffic so that farm vehicles don’t pass 
through the courtyard and garden.  

 
11.10.  Visibility to the new access could achieve to the right approx. 330m which is well 

in access of the required 215m. To the left it is 145m to the nearside kerb and 
estimated to be 160m to the central double white line marking which is below 
standard.   

 
11.11. Although the proposed access offers a very significant improvement in visibility, 

CCC Highways in discussions indicated that it should be further improved by the 
removal and relocation of the existing hedge.  

 
11.12. The relocation of the hedge maximises the available visibility to the left to 197m 

(to the centreline), just 18m short of the 215m requirement.  
 

11.13. The below summarises the existing and proposed visibilities and the 
improvement resulting from the proposed access.  

 

 
11.14. As can be seen whilst the full visibility to the right can be achieved the visibility to 

the left is just 18m below the recommended value of 215m. An approaching 
vehicle on the A595 travelling at the design speed of 60mph moves 26.8m each 
second. As such the travel time difference between the recommended visibility 
distance and that at the proposed access is just 0.66 seconds and is considered 
to be negligible.   

 
11.15. County Highways have considered the additional supporting statement and 

advise their previous response therefore still applies. However, should we be 
minded to approve the application then they have recommended a condition be 
attached requiring the visibility splays to be provided prior to the development 
commencing.  

 
11.16. As the vehicular use at the existing access is established and cannot be removed 

members should consider the significant betterment that the new access can 
achieve.  

 
 

Page 78



Landscape / Ecological Impact 
 

11.17. Policy DM17 seeks where possible that existing trees, hedgerows and woodland 
that are considered important to the local community, contribute to the character 
of the area and/or are of nature conservation value be protected. Policy S2 and 
S35 seeks to promote sustainable development whilst protecting and enhancing 
biodiversity within the Plan area.  
 

11.18. To achieve the required maximum visibility at the site it is necessary to relocate 
part of the existing hedge that forms the front boundary with the highway. 
 

11.19. The agent has submitted a Hedgerow Survey with the application that assess the 
hedge under The Hedgerow Regulations (1997). 

 
11.20. The site survey found that the hedgerow does not meet the criteria of being 

classified as ‘important’ by the Hedgerow Regulations 1997. 
 

11.21. Furthermore the hedgerow is deemed as having a low value to wildlife, both 
animals and plants, when viewed in the context of local landscape. As such, it is 
recommended that, where possible, the original hedge is translocated to its new 
position. Where this is not possible, a new hedgerow should be planted using a 
native species mix, with additional hedgerow wildflower seed / plug plants to be 
planted in the base.  

 
11.22. The adjacent pasture land on which development will take place was also judged 

to be of low ecological value.  
 

11.23. In terms of the impact on the landscape, along with the relocation of the original 
hawthorn hedge, the applicant is proposing that a mixed hawthorn and 
blackthorn hedge be planted along the inner side of the access track.  

 
11.24. Officers consider the proposed access road will assimilate into the existing 

landscape of the area. The translocation of the original hedge and the replanting 
of an additional hedge will enhance the ecological value of the area.  

 
Heritage Impacts 
 

11.25. Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
states “In considering whether to grant planning permission for development 
which affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority or, as the 
case may be, the Secretary of State shall have special regard to the desirability 
of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or 
historic interest which it possesses.”  
 

11.26. The council therefore has a duty to have a special regard on developments which 
may affect the character or setting of the listed building.  

 
11.27. Officers consider that the proposed new access will not impact on the setting of 

the listed building with the proposed landscaping facilitating the access track into 
the existing landscape. 

Page 79



 
11.28. With regards to the existing access although this will be closed the existing gated 

sandstone wall surrounding the entrance will be retained, with the drive leading 
to the house and courtyard retaining the historic history of the site.  

 
11.29. To prevent people trying to continue to enter the original recessed access, then 

potentially having to reverse onto the highway for safety purposes it is proposed 
this access is to be closed. Whilst officers do not oppose this, consideration has 
been given to the means used to close off the existing access so as to retain the 
historic origins of the property and the original access. It is proposed that 4 
boulders will be sited along the entrance to a height between 40 – 60cm to close 
off the access altogether. Officers consider the proposed location of the 
boulders to be acceptable, and the material and scale to be appropriate. This 
will ensure the historic significance of the sites original access remains intact. 

 
 

11.30. Local Financial Considerations 
 

Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal will 
have financial implications arising from New Homes Bonus and Council Tax 
Revenue. 

 
 
12. Conclusions 

12.1. The existing access at Overgate has very poor visibility along the A595 and is 
substantially below the required visibility standard of 215m.  

12.2. It is considered that the proposed new access will allow a new safer egress/exit 
from the site. Although it is noted that the visibility to the left still falls below 
standard at 197m this is only 18m less and is a substantial improvement of 114m 
on the existing current situation and the revised access is considered acceptable. 

12.3. The access track itself will not have an impact on the setting of the Listed 
Building. It is considered necessary to close the existing access in a manner 
which will retain the historic working of the farm whilst preventing any accidents 
on the A595 by drivers trying to enter. Therefore the proposed boulders are 
considered the most appropriate form, with the design and siting not having a 
detrimental impact on the setting of the Listed Building. 

 

13. RECOMMENDATION 

APPROVE 

Page 80



Annex 1 

CONDITIONS 
 
Time Limit: 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 

three years from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990. 
 

 
In Accordance: 
  
 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in accordance 

with the following plans: 
5566 11 Location Plan (received 7 October 2021) 
5566 10 Rev A Proposed New Access Road (received 7 October 2021) 
Additional Supporting Statement – Proposed Access Improvements 
(received 4 October 2021) 
Hedgerow Survey (received 27 September 2021) 
Email 11 October 2021 amending description 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material alterations 
to the scheme are properly considered. 

 
 
Post-commencement/Pre use commencing conditions: 
 
 
3.     The development shall not commence until visibility splays providing clear 

visibility as shown on drawing number 5556 11 have been provided. 
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and County Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-
enacting that Order) relating to permitted development, no structure, or 
object of any kind shall be erected or placed and no trees, bushes or other 
plants shall be planted or be permitted to grow within the visibility splay 
which obstruct the visibility splays.  

 
Reason: In the interest of highway safety to ensure an acceptable standards of 
highway access during the construction and operational use of the site, in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.  
 
 
 

Page 81



4.     The whole of the access area bounded by the carriageway edge, entrance 
gates and the splays (as shown on the drawing 5566 11) shall be 
constructed and drained to the specification of the Local Planning Authority 
in consultation with the Highway Authority.  

 
Reason: In the interests of road safety.  

 
5.     The hedge along the access track and the replacement hedge to be 

reinstated behind the visibility splays as required under condition 3 as 
shown on drawing number 5566 10 Rev A and in line with the 
recommendations in the Hedgerow Survey shall be planted within the first 
planting season following completion of the development . Should any 
plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the 
development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased 
they shall be replaced in the next planting season unless otherwise agreed 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: I In order to enhance the appearance of the development and minimise 
the impact of the development in the locality.  

 
Other:  
 

 
6.    Within 1 month of the new access been brought into use the existing access 

as indicated on drawing number 5566 10 Rev A shall be permanently closed 
and the approved boulder details installed in situ. Thereafter the boulders 
shall be not removed nor the access brought back into use without the 
approval of the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason: To minimise highway danger for operational traffic and for the avoidance of 
doubt and safeguard the setting of the application sites listed building in compliance 
with policy S22 and S27 of the Allerdale local plan (Part 1).  
 

 
. 
 
Advisory Note  

Page 82



 
 
 

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 84



Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Planning Application HOU/2021/0202 
 

Development Panel Report 

 
Reference Number: HOU/2021/0202 

Valid Date: 17/11/2020 

Location: 25 Park end Road 
Workington  
CA14 4DE 

Applicant: Nick Whitehead  

Proposal: Resubmission of application HOU/2021/0048 to 
replace 8 single glazed sliding wooden sash windows 
with ECOSlide PVC-U sliding sash 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

Refuse 

1. Summary 

Issue Conclusion 

Heritage  The proposal relates to an Article 4 
property within the Portland Square 
Conservation Area. The scheme seeks to 
substitute existing traditional timber sliding 
sash of some of the front and side 
elevation windows with modern UPVC 
alternatives. 

Both the applicant’s property and the 
majority of the street’s large Victorian 
semi-detached /terrace properties in the 
immediate locality of the site largely retain 
their existing traditional details (including 
their fenestration). 

Officers consider the proposal would result 
in the detrimental loss of the existing 
details, and by virtue of the design and 
materials of the proposed replacement 
windows will neither preserve nor enhance 
the character and appearance of the 
designated conservation area resulting in 
detrimental harm to the prominent façade 
facing Park End Road. 

Page 85

Agenda Item 8



There will be consequent harm to the 
significance of this designated heritage 
asset which is not outweighed by any 
public benefits. 

The proposal is therefore considered 
unacceptable in contrary to the criteria of 
Policy S27 of the Allerdale local plan (Part 
1)  

 

2. Introduction 
 

2.1. This application had been referred to the Development Panel by Councillor 
Heaslip.  

 
3. Proposal 

 
3.1. The applicant seeks to replace some of the window fenestration details on the 

front and side elevations of his property. This comprises of replacing 8 single 
glazed timber sliding wooden sash windows with double glazed ECOSlide PVC-U 
sliding windows. The windows in question relate to:, the bay windows to the 1st 
floor - principle elevation, 2 attic windows to the 2nd floor –principle elevation and 
2 attic windows to the 2nd floor side elevation.  
 

3.2. The plans for consideration are:- 
 

 Window appendix form.  

 Design and Access Statement. 

 Window Scheme – Scale Drawings, Sectional Drawings and Site Location 
Plan.  

 Site Plan. 

 Window Sizes – Dimensions of Front Attic Room & Side Attic Room 

 Window Sizes (2) – 2nd Floor Bay  

 Window Brochure. 
 
 
 

The particulars can be viewed at;- 
 
https://allerdalebc.force.com/pr/s/planning-
application/a3X3X00000B9DTQUA3/hou20210202 

 
 
3.3. As part of the submission, the applicant provided a supporting statement which 

detailed that the existing windows are no longer functional, have age related 
issues and require frequent maintenance. The applicant highlighted the varying 
design/materials windows on both the existing side and rear elevation of the 
dwelling.  The applicant confirmed the proposed windows are to be foil wrapped, 

Page 86

https://allerdalebc.force.com/pr/s/planning-application/a3X3X00000B9DTQUA3/hou20210202
https://allerdalebc.force.com/pr/s/planning-application/a3X3X00000B9DTQUA3/hou20210202


with run through horns and astragal bars that mimic the design of the existing 
windows. 
 

3.4. The applicant has also confirmed their reasons for changing the existing windows 
to UPVC given the extensive repairs to the existing windows, a means of safety 
as they have young children, a number of the existing windows do not function or 
provide a means of escape, the maintenance, replacement of single glazed to 
double glazed reducing the amount of thermal heal loss, reduction in energy bills 
and additionally will reduce noise from external traffic.  
 

3.5. The applicant also stated that UPVC have had significant improvements since 
their introduction and no longer discolour or degrade as previously and bring the 
following advantages such as minimal maintenance, minimal impact upon the 
environment and a reduction in costs due to lower maintenance. 

 
 

The particulars can be viewed at;- 
 
https://allerdalebc.force.com/pr/s/planning-
application/a3X3X00000B9DTQUA3/hou20210202 
 

4. Site description 
 

4.1. The applicant’s property is located within Workington Conservation Area and is 
protected by an Article 4 Direction. The existing windows in with regards to the 
existing upper frames, are multi-pane and their transoms and glazing bars are 
fine and delicate in section. Officers considered their decorative design and 
materials contribute to the overall traditional character of the applicants 
compliment the traditional materials of the existing windows, preserve the historic 
character of the Conservation Area. 
 

4.2. The wider architectural and historic character upon Park End Road; has on the 
whole been preserved and retains the character of the Conservation Area, with 
the adjoining properties of replica windows to the host dwelling in terms of design 
and materials. The historic value and significance of this part of the Conservation 
Area relates to its landuse as a residential part of the town with its larger 
decorative Victorian properties demonstrating scale and wealth on the perimeter 
of this important eastern approach into the town.   
 

4.3. It was noted from the officer’s site visit that there a small number of individual 
unauthorised UPVC windows on these properties, which are out of character 
within the street scene and contrast do not integrate well within the locality. 
Taking into consideration these windows are unauthorised and would unlikely be 
supported, officers cannot base their assessment based upon the use of UPVC 
on this Street. Park End Road is relatively unspoiled Victorian terrace, the 
existing traditional windows within these dwellings play an integral part of the 
period character of the dwellings and make a positive contribution to the 
Conservation Area.  

 

Page 87

https://allerdalebc.force.com/pr/s/planning-application/a3X3X00000B9DTQUA3/hou20210202
https://allerdalebc.force.com/pr/s/planning-application/a3X3X00000B9DTQUA3/hou20210202


5. Relevant Planning History 
 
5.1. The following history is relevant to the proposal  – 

 

 2/2012/0016 – 25 Park End Road - Replace existing timber casement windows with 
upvc sliding sash windows – this application was approved with conditions. It was 
noted that the application referred to a window to the 1st floor side elevation and a 
window to the 1st floor rear elevation, which were of timber casement windows. The 
proposal sought to amend the windows to UPVC sliding sash. It was also 
addressed in the report the proposed sliding sash windows to the side/rear 
elevation were acceptable to due to the set back from the highway and public rights 
of way.  
 

 2/2000/0137 – 25 Park End Road - Replacement of three existing timber sliding 
sash windows with white UPVC mock sash windows to rear- this application was 
approved with conditions. The application was to replace 3 windows to the ground 
floor and were top hung sash windows (as opposed to sliding sash windows). 
Officers accepted the provision of UPVC on the side elevation of the ground floor 
given it was considered the mock sliding sash windows were not widely visible due 
to the screening from the existing boundary wall and the landscaping on site.  

 

 2/2005/0119 – 25 Park End Road - Proposed replacement of patio/french doors at 
rear of property.- This application was approved with conditions.  

 

 2/2004/0697 – 25 Park End Road - Proposed sun room and utility room extension 
(replacing existing WC and utility room). This application was approved with 
conditions. 

 

 2/2012/0292 – 1 Lorne Villas – Remove existing French doors and replace with 
pvcu sliding sash window. Remove and replace dining room timber window with 
pvcu sliding sash window. Removal of existing timber door and replace with 
composite door. – Refused. Appeal dismissed. This application was refused by 
virtue of design and materials and it was considered the proposal would neither 
preserve nor enhance the Conservation Area.  

 

 2/2013/0056 – 35 Park End Road – replace existing timber framed windows with 
UPVC sliding sash– Refused. It was considered that the proposed windows would 
neither preserve nor enhance the character or appearance of this particularly high 
quality part of the Portland square Conservation Area.   

 

 HOU/2017/0249 – 3 King Street - to replace the current windows for composite 
sash windows and a composite front door. Window sizes 900 x 1600- Refused. 
Appeal dismissed.  

 
6. Representations 

 
Workington Town Council 

 
6.1. No response to date.  

 

Page 88



Other representations 
 

6.2. As a result of consultation process, 2 letters of support were received from 
neighbouring properties.  

 
 

7. Environmental Impact Assessment 

7.1. With reference to The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) Regulations 2017 the development falls within neither Schedule 1 
nor 2 and, as such, is not EIA development. 

 
8. Duties 
 
8.1. For Listed Buildings: 
 

Section 66(1) of the Listed Buildings Act 1990 states that, in considering whether 
to grant planning permission for development which affects a listed building or its 
setting, the local planning authority shall have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or 
historic interest which it possesses. 
 

8.2. For conservation areas:  
 

Section 72(1) of the Listed Buildings Act 1990 states that, with respect to any 
buildings or other land in a conservation area, special attention shall be paid to 
the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that 
area. 

 
 

9. Development Plan Policies 
 

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014  
 

 
9.1. The following policies are considered to be relevant:- 

 
Policy DM15 - Extensions and alterations to existing buildings and properties 
Policy S2 Sustainable Development 
Policy S3 Spatial Strategy and Growth 
Policy S4 Design Principles 
Policy S27 Heritage Assets 
Policy S32 Safeguarding Amenity 
 

These policies can be viewed at:- 
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/local-
plan-part-1/ 
 
 

Page 89

https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/local-plan-part-1/
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/local-plan-part-1/


10. Other material considerations 
 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) 
 
Council Strategy 2020-2030 

 
11. Policy weighting 

 
11.1. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, 

if regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be 
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Local Plan Parts 1 and 2 have primacy. 
 

11.2. However, paragraph 218 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
2021 advises that policies in that Framework are material consideration which 
should be taken into account in dealing with the applications from the day of its 
publication. In this context it is noted that paragraph 219 of the NPPF 2021 
advises that due weight should be given to development plan policies according 
to their degree of consistency with the NPPF (the closer the policies in the plan to 
the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given). 
 

11.3. The policies relevant to the determination of this application are considered to be 
consistent with the NPPF and as such, the policies are afforded full weight 

 
12. Assessment: 

 
 
12.1. The site under its Article 4 direction within the designated Conservation Area is 

sensitive from a heritage perspective (especially from public viewpoints along the 
road frontage). Therefore the significance of the property and it surroundings 
including its contribution to the Conservation Area requires evaluation. Each 
application should be assessed on its individual planning merits. 

 
          Significance  
 
12.2. Park End Road is sited directly adjacent to a busy thoroughfare which adjoins the 

A596 to Stainburn Road.  The site in question compromises of a 3 storey end 
terraced Victorian Villa. The properties have open frontages, and albeit set back 
from the highway, their large scale dominates the character of this section of 
Park End road  
 

12.3. The dwellings upon this part of Park End Road have also predominately retained 
the historic character within the Conservation Area and is relatively unspoiled by 
virtue of the distinctive decorative detailing to the front façade of these dwellings; 
the sandstone frontage, quoins, cornicing detailing to the window/door surrounds 
and windows by virtue of the fine frames and glazing bars.  
 

Page 90



12.4. The dwellings No. 25, 27 and 28 Park End Road read as a group with both 27 & 
28 Park End Road of a symmetrical design and materials to the host dwelling (in 
relation to the existing windows).  
 

12.5. The applicant’s property’s side gable elevation is less prominent than the front 
elevation due the existing stone wall and landscaping. Its perpendicular 
orientation to the highway limits the extent of public view of the gables existing 
openings and their associated fenestration. It was noted that the nearby access 
to the dwellings upon Lorne Villa is not a public right of way. It was also observed 
that the long rear curtilage of the applicants dwelling which are enclosed by tall 
walls is in a much less prominent position within the Conservation Area given the 
separation distance between the highway (Carlton Road) and the rear elevation. 
The limited views from public vantage points and the subservient nature of these 
elevations mean that their contribution to the overall significance of the asset is 
far more limited. i.e. represents a less sensitive location in the Conservation Area 
 
Impact and Harm upon Heritage Assets 
 

12.6. Policy S27 is the principle policy for the consideration of the proposal given the  
          sensitivity of the site – 
         ‘The historic environment including all heritage assets and their settings will be 
         conserved and enhanced in a manner appropriate to their intrinsic historic value 
         and significance, their importance to local character, distinctiveness and sense of 
         place, and to other social, cultural economic or environmental benefits/values. The 
         Council will work with partners to seek the conservation and enhancement of all 
         designated or non-designated heritage assets within the Plan Area. In determining 
         applications that could affect the significance (including character, appearance, 
         historic value, value to people and setting) of a heritage asset and/or 
         archaeological asset, the following factors will be taken into account:  

· The level of significance of the heritage asset(s). 
 · The impact of the proposal on the significance (including setting) of the 2 (It 
  should be noted that these figures are based on the number of listings, but many 
  listings include more than one building, so the total number of buildings that are 
  listed is greater). Strategic Policies – Built and Historic Environment Allerdale 
  Local Plan (Part 1) – Adopted July 2014 120 heritage asset(s). 
· How the significance and/or setting of the asset could be better revealed. 
 · Opportunities for mitigating climate change without damaging significance. Only 
  proposals which do not harm any positive qualities of the heritage asset(s) will be 
  approved, unless there is a clear and convincing public benefit to the proposal that 
  will outweigh the harm caused to the asset(s). If the public benefits of a proposal 
  outweighs and justifies the loss of a heritage asset, it must be fully recorded in 
  accordance with agreed criteria which will be proportionate to the value and 
  significance of the heritage asset. 
 

12.7. Clearly the existing windows represent an important integral feature on the 
building. It is for members to therefore judge whether or not the merits of the 
proposed replacement windows would preserve or enhance the character of the 
Conservation Area. These aspects can be divided into three categories: 

  

Page 91



12.8. (i) Materials- timber represents the traditional material used on fenestration 
details on properties within the Conservation area. Whilst the applicant has referred 
to other approved UPVC windows elsewhere in the Conservation Area, each site 
has to be assessed on its individual merits looking at the context of both the 
individual property itself and those in its immediate locality i.e. how strong is the 
heritage value in its immediate vicinity. Officers consider the setting of the 
applicant’s property is primarily within the context of the larger properties which it 
forms part of and would not be seen in the context of the other terraced properties 
to the south of the site. The proposal would therefore introduce a modern material 
onto a predominantly intact set of frontages to these traditional properties. Officers 
consider the proposed UPVC materials would contrast with the white painted timber 
frame. This contrast will be exacerbated by contrasting mix of both modern and 
timber windows on the same front façade (officers consider the ground floor 
windows would be especially difficult to replicate in UPVC due to their decorative 
details and multiple frames. The visual contrast would not be confined to the 
applicant’s property, but especially given it constituting part of a terrace of three, it 
would also differ from the properties on the block plus the other semi-detached 
dwellings elsewhere in the street. The existing timber windows have timber frames 
and glazing bars which are fine in section and replicate the design of the adjoining 
neighbouring properties windows of both the adjoining 27 and 28 Park End Road, 
and are finesse in nature and as aforementioned these dwellings read as a group. 
Officers therefore consider the proposed adoption of modern materials at this 
location would erode the character of the streetscene and its significance. 

 
12.9. (ii) Sections/ double glazing- officers do not oppose the principle of replacement 

double glazing in traditional windows if the traditional proportions of the existing 
windows can be retained. Whilst this is often achievable for larger openings it 
becomes difficult to secure on small panes openings, often causing the need in 
association with its UPVC materials to plant/clip on dummy astragal bars. On fine 
sections this can result in a greater depth than width to the bar and possibly a 
resulting void in the centre. 

 
12.10. (iii) Means of opening – Whilst officer welcome the applicants pursuit of a sliding 

sash window type it is observed that these are dual opening (partially for cleaning 
purposes). The opening mechanism of the proposed windows (tilt and easy clean), 
and their potential projection beyond the fade of the frontage and gable would 
appear out of character upon the street scene i.e the existing sliding sash windows 
retain a flush fitting fenestration to the façade which does not project. This would 
have an adverse impact upon the appearance of the applicants dwelling itself, the 
façade and setting of the adjoining neighbouring terraced dwellings plus other 
nearby properties in the wider Conservation Area, with a prevailing dominance of 
existing sliding sash window types. Given that the conservation area extends over a 
wide area the harm is probably less than substantial but still significant. 

 
12.11.    In relation to the proposed side elevation windows, the harm will be minimal in 

relation to the proposed modern materials however the proposal must be 
considered as a whole and officers would, unlike the former approved UPVC sliding 
sash window on the applicants gable elevation, would still have concerns in relation 
to the design of the proposed windows, by virtue of the ‘tilt & easy clean’ function 
which allows the windows to be tilted inwards (for cleaning purposes), which is not a 

Page 92



traditional sliding sash opening mechanism and is similar to that of a casement 
window.  

 
12.12. It was noted that other dwellings within the immediate locality were refused 

Planning Permission to replace existing timber framed windows to UPVC sliding 
sash to the front elevations –  

 
- 35 Park End Road - 2/2013/0056 - Replace existing timber framed windows 

with upvc sliding sash windows – Refused. The application was refused as it 
was considered the proposal would not preserve or enhance the character of 
the Conservation Area and ‘approving the application would set a precedent 
which could lead to the loss of all traditional wooden windows in non-listed 
buildings within the Conservation Area’.  
 

- 1 Lorne Villas – 2/2012/0292 - Remove existing French doors and replace 
with pvcu sliding sash window. Remove and replace dining room timber 
window with pvcu sliding sash window. Removal of existing timber door and 
replace with composite door – Refused. The inspector dismissed the appeal 
(APPG0908/D/12/2181127) at No. 1 Lorne Villas against the refusal of upvc 
windows to the front and side elevation of a property at Lorne Villas, which 
terrace runs directly adjacent to 25 Park End Road.  It was stated that it is 
likely that upvc windows will ‘appear rather crude in comparison to the 
detailing of the remaining timber sliding sashes’ and additionally ‘the grained 
composite surface would jar with the painted finish of the adjacent door and 
windows’. The appeal furthermore stated that the front and side elevations 
are 'substantially unspoilt and are an attractive element in the street scene. It 
an element that needs to be protected and managed sensitively’. Park End 
Road and its immediate neighbours are also substantially unspoilt and 
attractive and by virtue of being more prominent, may be even more important 
to maintaining the special character and appearance of this part of the 
conservation area. 
 

- 3 King Street – HOU/2017/0249 - to replace the current windows for 
composite sash windows and a composite front door. Window sizes 900 x 
1600. – Refused. The inspector dismissed the appeal 
(APP/G0908/D/18/3198453) at 3 King Street, it was stated by the 
inspectorate ‘the majority of the properties in this area are historic buildings 
which have largely retained their original windows, often timber sliding sash, 
and have a strong sense of character which contributes positively to the 
character and appearance of the Conservation Area’. The inspectorate also 
noted ‘The use of woodgrain effect UPVC would not disguise the nature of the 
material which is smooth, shiny and modern. Therefore the proposed 
windows would adversely affect the traditional integrity of the appeal building 
and consequently would not preserve or enhance the character or 
appearance of the Conservation Area.’ and additionally highlighted ‘The slow 
degradation of the special architectural and historic qualities of the area by 
uncontrolled and ad hoc UPVC windows does not justify granting planning 
permission in the context of the special attention that must be paid to the 
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of the 
area as a whole. Moreover to do so on appeal against this background would 

Page 93



send out the wrong message. By quoting the circumstances of such a 
decision, even though each case should in the first place be considered on its 
individual merits, would probably mean that the Council would find its efforts 
to resist other applications for UPVC windows in the area undermined and the 
incremental effect could cause significant harm to the historic character of the 
area ’.  
The inspectorate also addressed the cost implications between UPVC/timber 
-  ‘In this case reference has been made to the previous windows being 
beyond repair and the cost of timber replacements being in the order of 
£7700 - the appellant not having the funds to cover this. However there is no 
evidence to show that repairs were not possible and uneconomical. The cost 
issue therefore has limited weight. Consequently the public benefits would not 
outweigh the great weight that should be given to the designated heritage 
asset’s conservation’ and additionally noted the applicants concerns in 
relation to unauthorised UPVC windows within the are Conservation Area – ‘ 
The appellant has expressed concern about how the Council has not dealt 
with the issue of other UPVC windows in the Conservation Area. 
Nevertheless, these concerns are separate from the planning merits of the 
proposed development and they have little bearing on the outcome of this 
appeal’. 
 

- 4 Portland Street – 2/2016/0517 - replacement of 6 wooden windows with 
UPVC sliding sash and replacement door with composite door- Refused. The 
inspectorate dismissed the appeal, it was stated I acknowledge that the 
existing windows and door are falling into disrepair, and I note the appellant’s 
position that, should be appeal be dismissed, they would leave the existing 
windows and door in place for reasons of cost effectiveness. However, these 
circumstances would not justify their replacement in unsympathetic materials’. 
Additionally comments stated that ‘the appellant contends that the new 
windows would offer greater security, energy efficiency and future adaptability 
than the existing ones. However, they have offered no substantive evidence 
to demonstrate that this would be the case. I have had regard to a letter of 
support for the proposal, but this has not led me to a different conclusion’. 

 
12.13. The applicant has contested the insulation and maintenance benefits of the 

scheme and additionally concerns in relation to the provision of a means of 
escape/noise reduction/impact upon energy efficiency. Whilst sustainable means of 
heating are material planning considerations, officers would not oppose the 
principle of timber sliding sash double glazed windows if the smaller pane joinery 
section details can be secured.  This alternative timber option would both secure 
the heritage value of the applicant’s property whilst enhancing its energy/noise 
insulation efficiencies, but this has been declined by the applicant.  
 

12.14. No. 35 Park End Road submitted a planning application under planning reference 
- 2/2013/0056 to replace existing timber framed windows with upvc sliding sash 
windows to the front elevation, which was refused. The application was refused as it 
was considered the proposal would not preserve or enhance the character of the 
Conservation Area and ‘approving the application would set a precedent which 
could lead to the loss of all traditional wooden windows in non-listed buildings within 
the Conservation Area’. 

Page 94



 
12.15. The supporting statement also referenced a planning application that was 

supported under planning ref HOU/2018/0167. The application referred to a 
dwelling upon Elizabeth Street, the proposal was considered acceptable due to the 
prevalence of UPVC upon Elizabeth Street and within the immediate locality (and it 
was also noted within the report that the if the proposal were to include the 
elevation upon Carlton Road officers would have concerns with regards to the 
proposal). Whereas the dwellings upon this part of Park End Road, have retained 
the traditional character to the frontage by virtue of traditional materials and design 
and thus scheme is not considered to be comparable.  

 
Residential Amenity 
 

12.16. The window fenestration will remain as existing and will not impact upon 
residential amenity in terms of overlooking, over and beyond the existing 
arrangement. The proposal does not therefore conflict with policy S32 of the 
Allerdale Local plan (Part 1) 
 
Highway Safety 
 

12.17. Given the nature of the development there are no concerns in relation to highway 
safety.  

 
Public Benefits 
 

12.18. Officers therefore have addressed the supporting statement supplied by the 
applicant, however officers do not support the proposal as submitted by virtue of the 
proposed materials (predominately concerns with the use of UPVC to the frontage) 
and the means of opening, opening inwards to self-clean the proposed windows. 
There are no public benefits arising from the proposal.  

 
Balance and Conclusions 

 
13.0 The proposal will neither preserve nor enhance the character and appearance of 

the designated conservation area as a result of the harm from the proposed 
interventions to the façade facing Park End Road. There will be consequent harm 
to the significance of this designated heritage asset which is not outweighed by 
any public benefits. The proposal would be contrary to policies S2, DM15 and 
S27 of the adopted Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 (2014) and the provisions of the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2018. In addition, if the proposal were to be 
approved, it would set an undesirable precedent for similar proposals upon Park 
End Road. 

 
 

Local Financial Considerations 

 

Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal will 

have no local financial consideration. 

 

Page 95



 

RECOMMENDATION 

REFUSE. 

Page 96



Annex 1 

Reasons for refusal  

 

The proposal by virtue of its modern UPVC material and means of opening ,will neither 

preserve nor enhance the character and appearance of the designated conservation 

area as a result of the harm from the proposed interventions to the façade facing Park 

End Road. There will be consequent harm to the significance of this designated heritage 

asset which is not outweighed by any public benefits. The proposal would be contrary to 

policies S2, DM15 and S27 of the adopted Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 (2014) and the 

provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework 2018.  

 
 

Proactivity Statement 
 

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 
application by assessing the proposal against, primarily, the development plan 
policies, any duties applicable and also all material considerations including 
emerging Local Plan policy, the National Planning Policy Framework and any 
stakeholder representations that may have been received. In this context, the Local 
Planning Authority has determined the application within a timely manner, clearly 
setting out the reason(s) for refusal, allowing the Applicant the opportunity to 
consider the harm caused and whether or not it can be remedied by a revision to the 
proposal.  The Local Planning Authority is willing to meet with the Applicant to 
discuss the best course of action and is also willing to provide, without prejudice, 
pre-application advice in respect of any future application for a revised development.   

 
 

Page 97



 

Page 98



Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Planning Application FUL/2021/0197 
 

Development Panel Report 

 
Reference Number: FUL/2021/0197 

Valid Date: 18/08/2021 

Location: Town Hall, Senhouse Street, Maryport 

Applicant: Allerdale Borough Council 

Proposal: Replacement of existing doorway at North elevation 
with infill panel, construction of new doorway in 
original position to form new main access 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

Grant with conditions 

 

1.0 Summary 

Issue Conclusion 

Heritage The alterations do not harm the non 
designated heritage asset, the 
conservation area or the setting of listed 
buildings.  The proposals enable the 
ongoing viable use of the building.  

Residential Amenity No impact. 

 
2.0 Proposal 
 
2.1 The proposal relates to the north elevation of the Town Hall at Senhouse 

Street, Maryport.  Planning permission is required for the reinstatement of an 
original door opening and the replacement of the existing door opening with 
an infill panel door.   

 
2.2 Other alterations are shown on the application drawings but these comprise 

repairs and do not require planning permission.  The proposed glazed roof at 
first floor level has been removed from this application.  

 
2.3 The alterations to the doors on the north elevation will not only restore an 

original feature but will also enable the internal layout to be altered to  improve 
functionality and future proof the building by creating flexible, adaptable 
workspaces that accommodate different users.  

 

Page 99

Agenda Item 9



2.4 The proposed door will reflect the style of the existing door but will be painted 
to match the colour of the existing stucco render on the external facade. The 
purpose of this is to display the heritage attributes of the building. 

 
2.5 The Plans for consideration are:- 
 

9046 Location Plan  
9046 Existing Site Plan 
9046-BA-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A- (02)002 Existing West Elevation 
9046-BA-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-(05)004 Proposed West Elevation 

 
9046-BA-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-(05) 001- Proposed North Elevation 
9046-BA-ZZ-00-DR-A-(01)000 Existing Ground Floor Plan 
9046-BA-ZZ-01-DR-A- (01)001 Existing First Floor Plan 
9046-BA-ZZ-00-DR-A-(04) 000 Proposed Ground Floor Plan 
9046-BA-ZZ-01-DR-A- (04) 001 Proposed First Floor Plan 

  
 
3.0 Site 

 
3.1 The site is on the corner of Senhouse Street and High Street.  It is a two 

storey property with parts dating back to the 1760s.  It is not listed but is 
considered a non-listed heritage asset.  It is located within the conservation 
area.  The immediate context surrounding the building features many other 
designated and non-designated heritage assets, including the Broom Vaults 
PH and 72 High Street. 

 

 

 

4.0 Relevant Planning History 
 

4.1 The most recent applications relating to the site are as follows: 
 

- 2/2001/0120: Refurbishment and renovation including provision of disabled 
access 

- 2/2003/0425: Re-rendering of two chimneys to match adjacent wall 
finishes.  

 
 
5.0 Representations 
 

Maryport Town Council 
 
5.1 Objection, a risk assessment to the rest of the building before any new 

construction takes place is required, The repairs to the rear wall & chimney 
have been halted due to H&S reasons, unless this is fixed first, no other 
building/construction/repair works should commence externally or internally  
 

 
 

Page 100

https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000QYdRBQA1
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000QYdVcQAL
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000QYdUMQA1
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000QYdZjQAL
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000QYdZjQAL
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000QYdc4QAD
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000QYdSAQA1
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000QYdFzQAL


 Other representations  
 
5.2 There have been no other letters of representation. 

 
 

6.0 Environmental Impact Assessment 

6.1 With reference to The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) Regulations 2017, the development is not within Schedule 1 nor 
2 and, as such, is not EIA development. 

 

7.0 Duties 
 

7.1 Does the site affect the setting of a listed building?  
Yes. Section 66(1) of the Listed Buildings Act 1990 states that, in considering 
whether to grant planning permission for development which affects a listed 
building or its setting, the local planning authority shall have special regard to 
the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of 
special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.  
 
Is the site within a designated conservation area?  
Yes. Section 72(1) of the Listed Buildings Act 1990 states that, with respect to 
any buildings or other land in a conservation area, special attention shall be 
paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 
appearance of that area. 
 
Is the development likely to have a significant effect upon a Natura 2000 
designation? No 

 
8.0 Development Plan Policies 
 
 

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014  
 
8.1 The following policies are considered to be relevant:- 

 
S1 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development 

S2 – Sustainable development principles 

S3 – Spatial Strategy and Growth 

S4 – Design principles  

S5 – Development principles  

S27 – Heritage Assets  

S32 – Safeguarding Amenity  

DM14 – Standards of Good Design 

  
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 2)  

 

 

Page 101



9.0 Other material considerations 
 
 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) 
 
 
10.0 Policy weighting 
 
10.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 

that, if regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be 
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 and 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 2) policies have primacy. 

 
11.0 Assessment 
 

Heritage 
 
11.1  Policy 27 states that the historic environment including all heritage assets and 

their settings will be conserved and enhanced in a manner appropriate to their 
intrinsic historic value and significance, their importance to local character, 
distinctiveness and sense of place, and to other social, cultural economic or 
environmental benefits/values. 

 
11.2 A detailed Heritage Statement by Peter Messenger has been submitted to 

support the application.  It also provides detail on other aspects of the building 
which are not subject to this application.   

 
Heritage Assets 

 
11.3 The Town Hall is not listed but is considered to be a non-designated heritage 

asset.  The Heritage Statement provides detail of its history.  Parts date back 
to 1760 and the building has been much altered during various stages of 
history.   

 
11.4 There are several listed buildings within the setting of the Town Hall: 
 

72 High Street – Grade II 
Broom Vaults PH – Grade II 
13 Senhouse Street – Grade II 
Public House, Senhouse Street – Grade II 

 
 

11.5 The Town Hall is identified as having considerable significance, 
architecturally, historically and as part of the townscape.  The building is very 
important in terms of the setting of the conservation area.   

 

Assessment of impact of work to the significance of the asset  

 

Page 102



11.6 The work to the doorways will retain the historic fabric and the overall 

appearance of the building.  Key design detail will be preserved.  The impact 

of the work will not be significant on the appearance of the building within the 

conservation area.   

 

11.7 As set out in the Heritage Statement, the continued occupation, repair and 

refurbishment of this building will help to ensure the future survival of this 

heritage asset, which occupies a significant position within the Maryport 

Conservation Area. The building’s current function or something similar will 

provide a viable use for the building, which in turn will help to retain its 

significance, enabling it to continue to provide public benefits. The junction of 

High Street and Senhouse Street is historically very significant as it 

establishes the axes for Maryport’s 30 grid pattern, for which it is renowned. 

The location of this and other buildings at this point within the Conservation 

Area form a group of significant buildings. Their continued use and the 

survival of their historic fabric are a requirement to ensure that the area’s 

quality and vitality are regained, all of which adds to the public benefits that 

could be achieved. 

 

Level of harm 

 

11.8 The alterations to the doorways will not cause any significant harm to the 

building.  The new doorway is actually in the location of a previous doorway.  

There will be no harm to the setting of listed buildings or the character of the 

conservation area.  

 
Residential Amenity  

 
11.9 Policy S32 seeks to safeguard residential amenity.  The immediate area is 

primarily commercial but with dwellings above shops and on High Street.  The 
proposed alteration to the north elevation will not result in any change to the 
level of residential amenity.   

 
Other Issues 

 
11.10 Maryport Town Council objected on the basis of other repairs being halted on 

the building for H&S reasons.  They require a risk assessment to the rest of 
the building before any new construction takes place.  The applicants have 
responded to their concerns by stating that the current proposal is a 
completely separate issue and that a comprehensive approach to the building 
is being taken.  The issue of planning permission for alterations to the doors 
should be treated separately from other repairs.  It is considered that there is 
no planning reason to delay the current proposal on the basis of delays to 
other repair work.     

 
 

Page 103



12.0 Conclusions 

12.1 The works will preserve the building and support its ongoing viable use.  

There is no harm to the building, to its setting and features of special 

architectural or historic interest which it possesses. The setting of the 

conservation area and listed buildings is preserved and the ongoing viable 

use of the building is secured.   

 
 
RECOMMENDATION 

Grant subject to conditions.  

 

 

Page 104



Annex 1 

CONDITIONS 
 
Time limit  
 
 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration 
of three years from the date of this permission.  
 
Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. 

 
In accordance  
 

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in 
accordance with the following plans: 
9046 Location Plan  
9046 Existing Site Plan 
9046-BA-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A- (02)002 Existing West Elevation 
9046-BA-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-(05)004 Proposed West Elevation 
 
9046-BA-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-(05) 001- Proposed North Elevation 
9046-BA-ZZ-00-DR-A-(01)000 Existing Ground Floor Plan 
9046-BA-ZZ-01-DR-A- (01)001 Existing First Floor Plan 
9046-BA-ZZ-00-DR-A-(04) 000 Proposed Ground Floor Plan 
9046-BA-ZZ-01-DR-A- (04) 001 Proposed First Floor Plan 

 
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material 
alterations to the scheme are properly considered. 

 
 
Pro-active Statement / Notes to Applicant  
 

1) Application Approved Without Amendment  
 
The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in 
determining this application by assessing the proposal against, primarily, 
the development plan policies, any duties applicable and also all material 
considerations, including emerging Local Plan policy, the National 
Planning Policy Framework and any stakeholder representations that may 
have been received. It has subsequently determined to grant planning 
permission. 

  

Page 105

https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000QYdRBQA1
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000QYdVcQAL
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000QYdUMQA1
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000QYdZjQAL
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000QYdZjQAL
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000QYdc4QAD
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000QYdSAQA1
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000QYdFzQAL


 

Page 106


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	Minutes , 31/08/2021 Development Panel
	Minutes , 14/09/2021 Development Panel

	5 OUT/2021/0017 - Newton Arlosh - Dwelling
	6 FUL/2021/0207 - Land Opposite The Willows, Flimby - Retrospective consent for the retention of existing agricultural building for the housing of livestock and horses
	7 FUL/2020/0122 - Overgate - Access
	8 HOU/2021/0202 - Park End Road - Windows
	9 FUL/2021/0197 - Maryport Town Hall - Replacement of existing doorway at North elevation with in fill panel, construction of new doorway in original position to form new main access

